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SECTION A:  General Information 

 
    A.1.    Purpose of this request for proposal (RFP): 

The organization or individual responding to this request will be referred to as the Food Service 
Management Company (FSMC) and the contract will be between the FSMC and Norwich Free 
Academy, hereafter referred to as the School Food Authority (SFA). 

 
This solicitation is for the purpose of entering into a contract for the operation of a food service 
program for the SFA.   Currently, the SFA’s food service program includes the following programs and 
options:  

 National School Lunch Program (NSLP)  School Breakfast Program (SBP) 
 Fresh Fruit and Vegetable Program (FFVP)       At-Risk Afterschool Snack 
 At-Risk Supper Program  Child and Adult Care Food Program (CACFP) 
 Special Milk Program  Summer Food Service Program (SFSP)/Seamless 
 A la Carte Food  Vending Items 

 
The SFA requires the FSMC proposal to include the following programs and options in their response: 

 National School Lunch Program (NSLP)  School Breakfast Program (SBP) 
 Fresh Fruit and Vegetable Program (FFVP)       At-Risk Afterschool Snack 
 At-Risk Supper Program  Child and Adult Care Food Program (CACFP) 
 Special Milk Program  Summer Food Service Program (SFSP)/Seamless 
 A la Carte Food  Vending Items 

 
The FSMC will assume responsibility for the efficient management and consulting service of the food 
program including, but not limited to: menus, purchasing, receiving, storing, setting up cafeteria lines, 
counter service, cleanup, sanitation, training, hiring and supervising personnel, and presenting food in 
a way to create optimum student participation at the schools listed in Exhibit A.   
 

     A.2.   Issuing Office 
The Business Ofice is the issuing office for this document and all subsequent addenda relating to it.  
The information provided herein is intended to assist the FSMC in the preparation of proposals 
necessary to properly respond to this RFP.  The RFP is designed to provide interested FSMCs with 
sufficient information to submit proposals meeting minimum requirements, but is not intended to limit 
a proposal’s content or exclude any relevant or essential data there from.  The FSMCs may expand 
upon the specification details to evidence service capability under any agreement within regulatory 
limits. 

 
Questions related to any portion of this RFP must be directed in writing to the issuing office noted 
above via  postal mail   e-mail   fax.  Responses will be provided only to written questions 

submitted if provided in accordance with the timeline in Section A4. 
 

     A.3.    Procurement Method 
 The contract will be a Cost-Reimbursable contract where the FSMC will be paid on the basis of the 

direct costs incurred (food, labor and supplies) plus fixed fees (Administrative Fee – corporate 
overhead costs and Management Fee – negotiated profit).  Administrative and Management Fees must 
be itemized on the Schedule E to ensure there are no duplicate charges.    
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     A.4.   Timeline: Response Due Date and Pre-Bid Conference 
Four (4)  copies (outlined in Section C12) of the proposal must be received by April 29, 2021 at 10 a.m.  
Any proposals en route, either in the mail or other locations in the SFA's offices will be ineligible for 
consideration.  The proposal must be received at the office of:    

Name: Rich Freeman   Title: Director of Finance & Human Resources 

Address:  Norwich Free Academy 

305 Broadway 

    Norwich CT  06360 

 

Date: Description: 

March 15, 2021 Request for Proposals (RFP) Issued 

March 26, 2021 Pre-Proposal Conference 10 a.m.  

  Attendance Required                  Attendance NOT Required 

Address: 

Norwich Free Academy 

Latham Board Room #1101 

305 Broadway, Norwich CT  06360 

Site visitations immediately following the Pre-Proposal Conference 

April 1, 2021 Questions from Bidders Due 

April 5, 2021 Responses from the SFA to the Bidders Questions Due (Written/Posted) 

April 29, 2021 Proposal Deadline 10 a.m.      

April 29, 2021 Review and Evaluation of Proposals 

May 6, 2021 Award of Contract by School Committee 

May 10, 2021 Draft contract due to CSDE 

May 18, 2021 Board of Education (BOE) Approval (if applicable) 

June 7, 2021 Executed Contract due to CSDE 

      

     A.5.    Consideration and Award 

a. The SFA may award a contract based upon the initial proposals received without discussion of 
such proposals.  Accordingly, each initial proposal should be submitted with the most favorable 
price and service standpoint.  
 

b. In accordance with 2 CFR § 200.319, this procurement transaction will be conducted in a manner 
providing full and open competition consistent with the standards of this section.  In order to 
ensure objective contractor performance and eliminate unfair competitive advantage, 
contractors that develop or draft specifications, requirements, statements of work, invitations 
for bids or requests for proposals must be excluded from competing for this contract. 
Prohibited restrictions to competition: 

i.    Placing unreasonable requirements in order to limit the number of firms eligible to do 
business; 

ii.   Requiring unnecessary experience or excessive bonding;  
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iii.  Noncompetitive pricing practices between firms or between affiliated companies; 
iv.  Noncompetitive contracts to consultants that are on retainer contracts; 
v.   Organizational conflicts of interest; 
vi.  Specifying a “brand name” product instead of allowing “an equal” product to be offered 

and describing the performance or other relevant requirements of the procurement; and 
vii. Any arbitrary action in the procurement process. 

 
c. In accordance with 2 CFR § 200.319(b), the SFA will not conduct the procurement process in a 

manner that uses statutorily or administratively imposed state, local or tribal geographic 
preferences in the evaluation of bids or proposals, except in those cases where applicable 
federal statutes expressly permit such preferences. 

d. SFAs are prohibited from entering into a contract with a FSMC that provides recommendations; 
develops or drafts specifications, requirements or statements of work; participates in 
developing requests for proposals or contract terms; or otherwise sets conditions or develops 
other documents for use in conducting this procurement. 

e. The SFA reserves the right to reject any or all proposals received or any parts thereof for any 
reason whatsoever, to waive any informality in any proposal or in any provision in the RFP. 

f. The SFA will award the contract, in writing, to the most responsible FSMC whose proposal is 
most responsive and advantageous to the SFA with price and other factors considered, 
provided that nothing herein shall be deemed to waive any requirement of federal, state or local 
law.  A responsible FSMC is one in which contractor integrity, compliance with public policy, 
record of past performance, and financial, technical and other resources indicate an ability to 
perform successfully under the terms and conditions required by this solicitation.  A responsive 
bid/proposal is one that conforms to all the material terms and conditions of the solicitation.     
[2 CFR § 200.320(c)(2)(iv) and 2 CFR § 200.320(d)(4)] 

g. FSMCs or their authorized representatives are expected to fully inform themselves as to the 
conditions, requirements and specifications before submitting proposals.  Failure to do so will 
be at the FSMC’s own risk and cannot secure relief on a plea of error.  This must include the 
contract terms and conditions as noted in Section 1 of this document. 

h. Under no circumstances will the SFA be responsible for the cost of preparing any bid or 
proposal. 

i. A Contract MUST be executed prior to July 1, 2021.  Payments from the non-profit school food 
service account are prohibited prior to approval by the Connecticut State Department of 
Education (CSDE) and contract execution (signed by both the SFA and the FSMC). 

j. Submitted proposals must not include overtly overly responsive items including but not limited 
to: funding scholarship programs, purchasing or gifting tickets, providing monetary gifts for 
unsolicited equipment, etc.  The practice of including a requirement in solicitation documents or 
including contract clauses for the delivery of unsolicited funds, services, or items for anything 
that does not directly benefit the non-profit school food service account is unallowable.  [2 CFR 
§ 225 Appendix A(C)(1)(b)] 

k. Bid Protest:  The SFA shall act in accordance with 2 CFR § 200.318(k).  Any action, which 
diminishes full and open competition, seriously undermines the integrity of the procurement 
process and may subject the SFA to bid protests.  SFAs are responsible for properly responding 
to protests and concerns raised by potential FSMCs.  Pursuant to 2 CFR § 200.318(k), SFAs must 
in all instances disclose all information regarding a protest to the CSDE.  SFA’s are highly 
encouraged to attach their bid protest procedures to their RFP. 
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l. The SFA will conduct this procurement in accordance with its Code of Conduct that prohibits a 
real or apparent conflict of interest and disciplinary action to be applied for violations of such 
standards. [2 CFR §200.318(c)] 

m. The SFA must take all necessary affirmative steps to assure that minority businesses, women’s 
business enterprises, and labor surplus area firms are used when possible. 

n. A cost plus a percentage of cost and percentage of construction cost methods of contracting will 
not be used in the award of this contract. [2 CFR §200.323(d)] 

o. The SFA must make available upon request, for the USDA or state agency, pre-procurement 
review, procurement documents, such as RFPs, IFBs, or independent cost estimates, when: 

i. The SFA’s procurement procedures or operation fails to comply with the procurement 
standards of this part; 

ii. The procurement is expected to exceed the Simplified Acquisition Threshold and is to be 
awarded without competition or only one bid or offer is received in response to a 
solicitation. 

iii. The procurement specifies a “brand name “product; 
iv. The proposed contract is more than the Simplified Acquisition Threshold and is to be 

awarded to other than the apparent low bidder under a sealed bid procurement; or 
v. A proposed contract modification changes the scope of a contract or increases the 

contract amount by more than the Simplified Acquisition Threshold. 

     A.6.   Award Criteria 
a. It is the intent of the SFA to select the proposal that will best meet its needs and is most 

advantageous to the non-profit school food service program of the SFA.  All responsive 
proposals will be evaluated and ranked.  The contract may then be awarded to the company 
submitting the top-ranked proposal.  The primary determining factor in the award shall be the 
price, further defined in this section.  

 
b. Proposals will be scored by a committee using the criteria and assigned points as detailed 

below. 
 

c. The committee must be comprised of three (3) or more qualified evaluators. 
 

d. Each evaluator must score each proposal individually. 
 

e. Scores from all evaluators shall be averaged for one final score per proposal. 
  

f. The proposals shall then be ranked from highest to lowest.  
 

g. The highest scoring responsive and responsible bidder shall be  
 

 selected to enter into negotiations. 
 
 Or 
 

 recommended to the Board of Education to enter into negotiations (BOE must not select 
another bidder without written justification regarding scoring, the responsiveness of the bidder 
and the determination of the bidder as responsible).  
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Criteria Points 

Price/Costs (this criterion must be the primary factor in the award decision and 
must be assigned the highest point value – profit must be reviewed and evaluated as a 
separate element of the proposal and its criteria must be lower than Price/Cost).  
Price/Costs shall be determined by the vendor’s completed schedule E and 
documents submitted in response to Section C3 of this RFP.  Direct costs as noted in 
12.11B must be reviewed and evaluated. 

This score will be based on the cost of the program.  Each proposal will be 
evaluated by a committee against the following criteria with assigned weights as 
indicated. 

 

 

20 points 

Experience, References and Service Capability: Review proposed FSD qualifications – 
must meet USDA Professional Standards (Hiring Standards) 

15 points 

Financial Condition/Stability, Business Practices 10 points 

Accounting and Reporting Systems 10 points 

Personnel Management and Training  10 points 

Promotion of the School Food Service Program 10 points 

Involvement of Students, Staff, Patrons and the Community 10 points 

Menus, Concepts of Service, Food Quality and the Use of USDA Foods 10 points 

Support for Connecticut’s Farm to School Program 5points 

Enter SFA Specific Criteria Click  to enter text 

Enter SFA Specific Criteria Click  to enter text 

Enter SFA Specific Criteria Click  to enter text 

Total Points 100 

 

     A.7.    Oral Presentations  
a. An oral presentation by a FSMC to supplement a proposal will not be required. If these  

presentations are required,  

i. they will be scheduled by the SFA subsequent to the receipt of proposals and prior to the 
award;   

ii. the FSMCs will not be allowed to alter or amend their proposals through the presentation  
process;  

iii. presentations will be scored against measureable standards based on content alone; and   
iv. the SFA must include the scoring criteria with this RFP. 

 
     A.8.    Site Visits to Proposers: Site visits to FSMC sites shall be scheduled as required. 

 

SECTION B:  Qualifications 
The following qualifications and conditions must be met and/or addressed in the FSMC’s proposal: 

 
     B.1. The FSMC must be of sufficient size and expertise to furnish the resources needed to manage and  
  continuously improve the food services operation.  The qualification data shall be submitted by each  
               FSMC along with the sealed proposal. 
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a. The FSMC must be licensed to do business in the state of Connecticut. 
 

b. The FSMC or its principals must have been doing business for three consecutive years or more 
with school districts. 

 
c. If a performance bond is required (see section XIV Performance Bond), the FSMC must be able 

to provide a performance bond should the FSMC be awarded the contract.  A surety letter from 
an acceptable bonding or surety company indicating ability to obtain the bond must be 
included with the proposal.   

d. Each FSMC shall include financial statements from three operating units that most closely 
match the characteristics of the SFA. 

 
e. Annual reports of financial statements certified by a licensed public accountant for the last year 

must be included with the proposal along with a three (3) year financial summary. 
 

f. The FSMC must submit three (3) Administrative Review Overview Reports from FSMC run 
Connecticut SFAs.  These must be from the most recent Administrative Reviews conducted.  If 
FSMC has less than three accounts, FSMC must substitute schools of similar size and operation 
located in another state. 

 
     B.2.   The FSMC must have extensive involvement and experience in the school food services field in the 

areas of:  designing and planning serving and dining areas; selecting and procuring commodities and 
food service equipment; nutrition; menu planning; on-site production; quality control; employee 
supervision; staff and management training; employee motivation; marketing and public relations.  
The inclusion of model programs in these areas is encouraged to be included in the proposal. 
 

     B.3.   All proposals shall be valid and may not be withdrawn for sixty (60) days after submission. 
 

     B.4.   Bonding Requirement 
The FSMC shall submit with its proposal, a bid guarantee for five percent (5%) of the total bid price in 
the form of a firm commitment such as a bid bond, certified check, cashier’s check or postal money 
order.  Bid guarantees will be returned to: (a) unsuccessful FSMCs after award of the contract; and (b) 
the successful FSMC upon execution of such further contractual documents (e.g., insurance coverage) 
and bonds as required by the proposal. 

 

SECTION C:  Proposal Format and Contents 
Proposals must be concise and in outline format.  Pertinent supplemental information should be referenced 
and included as attachments.  All proposals must include/address the following: 

 
     C.1.   Letter of Transmittal, which includes: 

a. An introduction of the FSMC. 
 

b. The name, address and telephone number of the person to be contacted, along with others who 
are authorized to represent the company in dealing with the SFA and RFP. 

 
c. A description of the FSMC’s ability and desire to meet the requirements of the RFP, and a 

positive assertion of the FSMC’s intention to do so. 
 

d. Any other responsive information not otherwise included in the proposal. 
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C.2.   Executive Summary, which: 

a. Briefly describes the FSMC’s approach to the proposal and clearly indicates any options or 
alternatives. 

 
b. Indicates any major requirements that cannot be met by the FSMC. 

 
c. Highlights the major features of the proposal and identifies any supporting information 

considered pertinent and responsive. 
 

     C.3.    Price/Cost Information 
a. List and describe any and all costs to the SFA for any Management Fee (FSMC’s profit) to be 

charged as a flat rate or on a per meal basis. 
 

b. List and describe any and all costs to the SFA for the Administrative Fee (FSMC’s overhead and 
other off-site costs not otherwise paid by the SFA) to be charged as a flat rate or on a per meal 
basis.  

 
c. If consulting services are not covered in Administrative Fee, list those services along with the 

extra charges. 
 

d. List payment terms and arrangements. 
 

e. Complete budgeted financial forms provided in Schedule E and provide a summary of the 
following: 

1. Financial Budget Projections; 
2. Income Summary; 
3. Labor Cost Summary:  Management/Administrative/Clerical; 
4. Individual School Labor Cost Summary; and 
5. Miscellaneous Expense Summary. 

 
     C.4.   Experience, References and Service Capability: 

a. Describe the FSMC’s experience in managing food service operations in public schools or 
comparable experience. 

 
b. Include a list of similar operations and locations of operating school food service programs (a 

minimum of three (3) required), or comparable operations.  List names and telephone numbers 
of SFA administrators, or comparable contacts, capable of commenting on performance. 

 
c. Provide documentation on any accounts lost or not renewed and the reasons for such during 

the last five years. 
 

d. Include a resume or listing of the qualifications for the proposed Food Service Director (FSD) 
for the SFA which must meet USDA Hiring Standards and Professional Standards. [7CFR 
§210.30]  FSD must have qualifications that meet a student enrollment of: 

 2,499 or less  2,500 – 9,999  10,000 or more 
 

e. Include the resume and background of person who will supervise the work of the Food Service 
Director and how the FSMC will ensure optimal performance. 
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f. Include a table of the FSMC organization and a plan for managing, supervising and staffing. 
g. Include a FSMC organization chart including all positions that are non-school based. 

 
h. Include a transition plan, which shall indicate the activities, procedures, timetable, and support 

personnel involved in the implementation of services. 
 

i. Include three (3) Administrative Review Overview Reports 
1. Must be Connecticut SFAs of similar size and operation. If FSMC has less than three 

accounts, FSMC must substitute schools of similar size and operation located in another 
state. 

2. Must be the most recent reviews conducted.  
 

     C.5.    Financial Condition 
a. Provide data to indicate the financial condition of the company.   

 
b. Provide audited financial statements for each of the last three (3) years. 

 
c. Detail the financial parameters of the program. 

 
     C.6.   Accounting and Reporting Systems 

a. Describe complete accounting procedures used to address: 

1. Inventory control and management including purchasing. 

2. Method of collecting, reconciling, and reporting sales. 

3. Internal control of cash handling. 

4. Internal audit procedures. 

5. All regular accounting forms used, with detailed explanations. 

6. All regular reports used, with detailed explanations. 
 

b. Provide examples of the reports the FSMC will provide the SFA and the frequency of each.  List 
other assistance the FSMC will provide the SFA (and costs, if extra). 

 
c. Provide a sample of a monthly invoice to the SFA. 

 
d. Describe the FSMC’s process for reporting rebates, discounts and credits on monthly invoices.  

Provide a detailed sample. 
 

     C.7.   Personnel Management and Training 
a. Describe the FSMC’s personnel management philosophy, particularly regarding food service 

directors and their relationship to existing staff. 
 

b. Describe training and development programs provided for employees and management 
personnel to meet the USDA Professional Standards for School Nutrition Professionals 
requirements. 

 
c. Explain how the FSMC works to improve employee morale and reduce turnover. 

 
d. Describe the FSMC’s employee evaluation process (include forms) and disciplinary action 

process (include forms). 
 

e. Describe the proposed benefits package for employees. 
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     C. 8.   Innovation and Promotion of the School Lunch Program 

a. Describe how the FSMC's proposed school food service program for the SFA differs from the 
SFA's current school food service program.  Describe the costs and benefits of the proposed 
program. Describe how the FSMC would implement changes with specific, relevant examples.      
The proposal must include a staffing model. 

 
b. Describe how the FSMC proposes to expand the SFA’s participation in the CT Farm to School 

Program. 
 

c. Describe how the FSMC would involve employees to use their expertise and experience in 
making future innovations. 

 
d. Provide examples of service and merchandising programs. 

 
e. Describe the FSMC’s philosophy regarding promotion (increasing awareness and participation) 

of the school food service program.  How would the FSMC implement this philosophy in our 
SFA?  Provide specific, relevant examples. 

 
     C.9.   Involvement of Students, Staff and Patrons 

a. Describe the FSMC’s philosophy and plans regarding involvement of students, teachers, 
building administrators and parents in program evaluation, menu development, menu item 
preference and acceptance and discussion of nutritional issues, etc.  

 
b. Provide specific, relevant examples of involvement effort and results, by SFA client, where 

applicable. 
 

     C.10.   Menu Selection, Use of USDA Foods, Food Quality and Portion Size 
a.   Describe the FSMC’s philosophy regarding each of the following: 

1. Menu selection.  
2. Use of USDA foods. 
3. Food Quality. 
4. Portion Quantities. 
5. Procurement and use of CT-grown/locally-grown produce pursuant to Public Act No. 

16-37 and noted in Schedule B. 
 

b.   Describe how the FSMC will ensure they will meet the Buy American Provision. 
 
c.  Supply sample menus to be implemented including portion sizes.  Prepare sample menus using 

(SFA to select option below): 
 SFA-developed menus   

OR  
 FSMC-developed menus 

 
e. Provide Specification sheets with grade, weight, nutritional qualities, and item labels for all 

products not included in the SFA’s Schedule B as noted in E.10  
 
     C.11.   Performance and Proposal Bond 

a.   The FSMC shall submit with its proposal, a bid guarantee for five percent (5%) of the total bid 
price in the form of a firm commitment such as a bid bond, certified check, cashier’s check or 
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postal money order.  Bid guarantees will be returned to: (a) unsuccessful FSMCs after award of 
the contract; and (b) to the successful FSMC upon execution of such further contractual 
documents (e.g., insurance coverage) and bonds as required by the proposal. 

 
b.   The FSMC shall submit a surety letter of intent or equal from a bonding company which  

demonstrates the FSMC’s ability to acquire a performance bond as described in Section XIV of 
the contract, should it be awarded.   

 
     C.12.   Submission of Proposal 

a. Exhibit E as part of this RFP must be completed.   
b. Exhibit M documents attached must be signed and submitted.  FSMC must not use own 

documents. 
c. Clarification of interpretation must be made to the SFA prior to submission of a proposal. 
d. Three (3) hardcopies and one (1) digital copy (cd, flash drive or other electronic document 

transfer) of the entire proposal must be submitted by the due date and time. (SFA must submit 
one copy of each proposal to the CT State Department of Education which must be a digital 
copy [e.g. via upload, CD, flash drive]) 

 
 

SECTION D:  Program Objectives 
The successful FSMC shall conduct the food service program in a manner which best fulfills the following 
program objectives.  The FSMC may submit proposals with value-added features directly related to 
supporting a program objective.  The FSMC must clearly state any value added feature and its relation to a 
specific program objective. 

      
D.1.   To provide appealing and nutritionally sound meals, compliant with all USDA regulations including 

all aspects of the Healthy, Hunger-Free Kids Act of 2010 and an a la carte program for students as  
          economical as possible.  In order to offer a la carte food service, the FSMC must also offer free, reduced 

price and full price reimbursable meals to all eligible children (according to eligibility).   
 

     D.2.   To promote nutritional awareness and interface with the SFA’s academic and instructional programs in  
          health and nutrition. 
 

     D.3.   To increase participation at all levels of the program by improving food quality; effectively maintaining  
          equipment and facilities; engaging students, parents, and the school community in the food service  

program; planning and implementing successful menus and menu variation; and implementing 
effective marketing techniques. 

 
     D.4.   To provide a management staff and structure, with the necessary expertise to ensure that the school 

food program is consistently of the highest quality and held in positive regard by students, staff and 
the public.   

 
     D.5.   To establish a formal structure to routinely and continuously gather input from students, staff, the 

public and food service employees to ensure the most effective and efficient operation possible. 
 

     D.6.   To establish and conduct management and staff training programs, which will ensure staff 
development, proper supervision, adherence to health code requirements, and consistent quality 
control both in production and service that meets or exceeds the USDA Professional Standards for 
Food Service Professionals. 
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     D.7.   To provide a financial reporting system that meets federal and state requirements. 
     D.8.   To provide SFA Administration with monthly operating statements and information regarding the 

food service program. 
      

D.9. To support Connecticut’s Farm to School Program established in section 22-38d of the Connecticut 
General Statutes and Public Act No. 16-37 including the purchase of Connecticut-grown farm products. 

 

SECTION E:  Specifications 

 
E.1.   The SFA participates in the programs noted in Section A1.  USDA Foods from the Federal Food 

Distribution Program are available for use in the lunch program and it is the intent of the SFA that such 
items be included in the menus to the greatest extent possible. 

 
E.2.   The FSMC shall meet all requirements of the USDA programs noted in Section A1, and any other 

requirements promulgated by the state of Connecticut.  The FSMC shall provide all meals in 
accordance with all applicable meal patterns for age and grade groupings.  This may include preschool 
meal patterns.  https://portal.ct.gov/SDE/Nutrition/Menu-Planning 

  
E.3.    The FSMC costs shall include all expenses associated with the operation of the food service program as  
          submitted in the financial budget of the RFP (e.g. on-site costs, food costs, labor costs, value of USDA  
         Foods used, management fee and administrative fee).  
  
E.4.   The FSMC shall receive for its service the following fee(s): 

 Management  fixed fee 
 Administrative fixed fee 

  provided its operation is sufficient to support the fees or unless otherwise approved by the SFA. 
 
E.5.   The FSMC shall submit a budget to the Business Manager or equivalent in March of each year, earlier if  
         requested, to be used by the SFA in its budget process and to demonstrate its ability to meet the   
          guaranteed financial agreement. 
 
E.6.   Meal prices shall be approved by the SFA.  The SFA shall retain ultimate control over meal prices and 

any other related or appropriate elements of the food service program. The FSMC will be responsible 
for completing the paid lunch equity tool (PLE). 

 
E.7.   It is expressly understood that all presently employed (SFA and/or FSMC) food service employees will 

be given the opportunity to interview for positions within the SFA as employees of the FSMC. 
 
E.8.   The FSMC shall supply with this proposal a full description of the proposed benefit package, including  
          but not limited to, levels of coverage, co-pay features and any other options and limitations. 
 

     E.9.   The FSMC shall procure on behalf of the SFA, in support of Connecticut’s Farm to School Program, 
Connecticut-grown farm products pursuant to section 22-38d of the Connecticut General Statutes and 
Public Act No. 16-37.  Specifications are established in Schedule B. 

   
   E.10. The FSMC shall procure products based on the specifications established in Schedule B.  FSMC must 

include, as part of the bid response, a specifications sheet with grade, weight, nutritional qualities, and 
item labels for all products not included in the SFA’s Schedule B. 

 
   E.11.   All proposals shall include a completed Schedule E.   

https://portal.ct.gov/SDE/Nutrition/Menu-Planning
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E.12.   The Contract shall be for a period of one year with the option for four (4)  additional one-year renewals:  

 July 1 – June 30    Prior to school year – June 30      Aprox start date – June 30 
 

E.13.   Terms of the contract are listed below in Section 1; however, the SFA may develop additional terms 
and or conditions with the successful FSMC, derived from the program objectives and or specifications 
listed in section D and E respectively, through negotiation and shall be consistent with the rights 
reserved by the SFA as described herein.  Any additional terms or conditions must not conflict with 
any of the terms set forth in Section 1 and must be consistent with all applicable laws and regulations.  
Negotiations must not change the scope of services or contract terms materially. 

   
 The SFA may request the FSMC provide additional food service programs including the NSLP, SBP, 

CACFP, At-risk Afterschool Snacks and/or Suppers, and/or SFSP/SSO to the current program or other 
non-profit organizations (including delivery).  The SFA may request service to additional sites.  
Additionally, the SFA may opt to participate in the Community Eligibility Provision (CEP). 

 
 E.14.   The FSMCs are requested to mark any specific information contained in their proposal which the FSMC 

is claiming should not be disclosed to the public, along with a citation to the applicable provision of the 
Connecticut Freedom of Information Act or other applicable statute on which the FSMC is basing its 
claim of confidentiality or non-disclosure.  Information marked as “not to be disclosed to the public” 
must meet the standards set forth in the Freedom of Information Act.  Pricing and service elements of 
the successful proposal will not be considered proprietary.  Provided that nothing herein shall be 
construed to relieve any SFA or the CSDE from its obligations under any applicable freedom of 
information laws or other legal obligations concerning document disclosure, including, but not limited 
to, civil discovery demands.  In the event a request for information/documentation is made pursuant 
to the Connecticut Freedom of Information Act (or other applicable statute or regulation), and the 
FSMC objects to the release of the requested information, the FSMC shall bear all reasonable costs and 
fees incurred in asserting such objection. 

 
 E.15.         The SFA either participates or intends to apply for FFVP funding so the FSMC shall provide, with 

the proposal, a FFVP cycle menu.  For each subsequent year in which the SFA receives FFVP 
funding, the FSMC must submit a cycle menu to the SFA prior to the beginning of the school year.  

      OR 
  The SFA does not participate and does not intend to apply for FFVP funding. 

  
 E.16.  Equipment 

 The FSMC shall provide proposals for the equipment listed on Exhibit J.  If requesting the purchase 
of equipment, it is the SFA’s responsibility to provide the specification of each and all items 
requested. 

 
 Equipment dollar value to be purchased 

 in each year of the contract: up to Enter Dollar Value.  All equipment purchased must be 
given up to five years to be paid off without regard to the contract year it was purchased.  
SFA payments must only begin once the equipment has been placed in service. 

 
    OR 
 

 over the life of the contract up to Enter Dollar Value.  All equipment purchased must be 
given up to five years to be paid off without regard to the contract year it was purchased.  
SFA payments must only begin once the equipment has been placed in service. 

 
 The SFA is not requesting any equipment purchases in this RFP. 
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E.17.  Additional specifications requested by SFA. 
 

The FSMC shall provide a food service vehicle to transport food and supplies between the NFA 
Campus, 305 Broadway and the Sachem Campus, 90 Sachem Street.  Both the driver, the upkeep and 
maintenance of said vehicle shall be provided by the FSMC 
 
The FSMC should come with examples of COVID protocols and have a plan for a quick 
implementation should the school have to adjust to a hybrid model or full remote within the school 
year.. 
 
Food service management and cafeteria staff are active members of school food service and nutrition 
professional organizations and participate in activities that promote professional growth and 
development, and are based upon current nutrition science and national health recommendations. The 
school’s food service manager and cafeteria managers shall, at a minimum, be certified in food safety 
and sanitation. In addition, all cafeteria staff are formally trained in Hazard Analysis and Critical 
Control Points (HACCP), food safety and sanitation requirements, and prepare a variety of nutritious 
foods daily.  
 
The FSMC shall be responsilble for providing breakfast, lunch and an aftershool snack.  Catering  for 
various meetings, after work and some staff and faculty events will also be provided.  USDA Foods 
will be ordered (any unprocessed agricultural products grown in New England that are available).   
 
The FSMC shall meet monthly with the SFA's Director of Finance . 
 
Upon written request by SFA, the FSMC will withdraw from the field any personnel provided under 
this contract and shall replace such personnel by others acceptable to SFA. All costs and additional 
expenses resulting from the replacement of the contractor's personnel shall be borne by the contractor 
unless appealed by FSMC to the SFA in writing with a compelling reason for splitting costs. A meeting 
between SFA and FSMC will resolves said appeal and decision will be final. Any such withdrawal shall 
not be considered as termination in part or in whole of this contract.  
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Contract Terms and Conditions 
 

SECTION I:  General 

 
1.1 The FSMC shall comply with all laws, ordinances, rules, and regulations of all applicable federal, state, 

county, and city governments (unless local laws conflict with any noted here), bureaus, and agencies, 
regarding purchasing, sanitation, health, and safety of the food service operations including those 
requirements and regulations adopted by the Connecticut Commissioner of Education or State Board of 
Education and the United States Department of Agriculture and any conditions or amendments 
thereto.  The FSMC shall procure and maintain all necessary licenses and permits. The SFA shall 
cooperate, as necessary, for the FSMC’s compliance and procurement efforts.  The FSMC shall conduct 
program operations in accordance with 7 CFR Sections: (check all that apply)  

 210 (National School Lunch Program);  
 210.10 (Afterschool Snack Program); 
 215(Special Milk Program);  
 220 (School Breakfast Program);  
 225 (Summer Food Service Program); 
 226 (Child and Adult Care Food Program);  
 42 U.S.C. 1769 (Fresh Fruit and Vegetable Program);  
 245, 250 (The Healthy, Hunger-Free Kids Act of 2010);  
 FNS instructions and policies; and 
 CSDE Operational Memoranda and policies.     

 
1.2 The SFA shall be entitled to all receipts of the food service program. 

 
1.3 All net income accruing to the SFA from the food service program shall remain in the program and be 

deposited by the FSMC into the nonprofit school food service account. 
 

1.4 The FSMC shall be an independent contractor and not an employee of the SFA; nor are the employees 
of the FSMC employees of the SFA. 

 
1.5 The FSMC, as an independent contractor, shall have the exclusive right to operate the school food 

service program and/or special milk program on behalf of the SFA. 
 

SECTION II: Relationship of the Parties 

 
2.1 The FSMC shall be an independent contractor and shall retain control over its employees and agents.  

Nothing in this contract shall be deemed to create a partnership, agency, joint venture or landlord-
tenant relationship. 

 
2.2 FSMC Responsibilities.  

A. The FSMC shall maintain such records as the SFA will need to support its Claim for 
Reimbursement; make all records available to the SFA upon request; and retain all records for a 
period of three (3) years after the SFA submits the final Claim for Reimbursement for the fiscal 
year for inspection and audit by representatives of the SFA, State Agency (SA), USDA and 
Office of Inspector General, at any reasonable time and place.  In instances where audit findings 
have not been resolved, the records must be retained beyond the 3-year period until resolution 
of the issues raised by the audit.  These records will be maintained at the SFA offices.  If records 
are maintained at the FSMC offices, FSMC must provide these documents monthly to the SFA 
in electronic form.  [Recordkeeping, 2 CFR § 200.333 and § 210.16(c)(1)]  
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B.   The FSMC shall, to the maximum extent possible, utilize USDA Foods made available by the 
SFA solely for the purpose of providing benefits for the SFA’s food service operation.  [7 CFR § 
210.16(a)(6)]  

 
C.  The FSMC shall have state and/or local health certification for any facility outside the school in 

which it proposes to prepare meals and the FSMC shall maintain this health certification for the 
duration of the contract.  The FSMC must meet all applicable state and local health regulations 
in preparing and serving meals at the SFA facility. [7 CFR § 210.16(c)(2)]  

 
D.  The FSMC shall prepare and serve a variety of appetizing, high quality, wholesome, and 

nutritious meals and a la carte items for the SFA’s students, employees, and visitors in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of this contract.  The FSMC agrees that it will perform 
the work described in this contract in full compliance with all applicable laws, rules, and 
regulations adopted or promulgated by any federal or state regulatory body or governmental 
agency.  

 
E.  The FSMC agrees to meet all requirements and performance standards that may be specified by 

rule or regulation by any administrative officials or bodies charged with enforcement of any 
state or federal laws on the subject matter of this contract. 

 
F.   The FSMC agrees to assume full responsibility for the payment of all contributions, assessments, 

both state and federal, including, but not limited to, wages, pension benefits, federal, state and 
local employment taxes, unemployment taxes, social security, and worker’s compensation costs, 
as to all employees engaged by it in the performance of the contract. 

 
G.  The FSMC agrees to furnish the SFA, upon request, a certificate or other evidence of compliance 

with state or federal laws regarding contributions, taxes, and assessments on payrolls.  
 

2.3 SFA Responsibilities.   
A. The SFA shall ensure that the food service operation is in conformance with the CSDE/SFA 

Agreement for Child Nutrition Programs (ED-099) and any addenda. [7 CFR § 210.16(a)(2)]  
 

B. The SFA shall monitor the food service operation through periodic on-site visits to ensure the 
food service is in conformance with program regulations. [7 CFR § 210.16(a)(3)]   SFA shall 
monitor each site a minimum of twice per school year.  The monitoring process shall include 
the completion of the sample CSDE monitoring form (Exhibit I or one approved by CSDE). 

 
C. The SFA shall retain control of the quality, extent, and general nature of its food service and the 

prices to be charged for meals. [7 CFR § 210.16(a)(4)]  
 

D. The SFA shall retain signature authority on the CSDE/SFA Agreement for Child Nutrition 
Programs (ED-099) and any addenda, free and reduced price policy statement and Claims for 
Reimbursement.  [7 CFR § 210.16(a)(5)]  

 
E. The SFA shall retain title to all USDA Foods and ensure that all USDA Foods: are made 

available to the FSMC, including processed USDA Foods; accrue only to the benefit of the SFA’s 
nonprofit school food service account; are fully utilized therein; and that all refunds, discounts, 
rebates and credits received from processors are retained by the SFA.  [7 CFR § 210.16(a)(6)]  
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F. The SFA shall maintain all applicable health certifications and assure compliance with all state 
and local regulations governing FSMC preparation or service of meals at a SFA facility.  [7 CFR 
§ 210.16(a)(7)]  

 
G. The SFA shall establish and maintain an advisory board composed of parents, teachers, and 

students to assist in menu planning. [7 CFR § 210.16(a)(8)]  
  

H. The SFA shall make reasonable modifications with regard to all matters under its supervision 
and control, and the FSMC shall comply with them as soon as reasonably possible after proper 
notification is given. 

 
I. The SFA shall retain control of the nonprofit school food service account and overall financial 

responsibility for the nonprofit food service operation, including control for setting of all prices, 
including price adjustments, for meals served under the nonprofit school food service account, 
including but not limited to, pricing for reimbursable meals, a la carte service, vending 
machines, and adult meals. [7 CFR § 210.16(a)(4)]  

 
J. The SFA shall retain signature authority and responsibility for all contractual agreements in 

connection with the school child nutrition programs. [7 CFR § 210.21]  
 

K. The SFA shall ensure prompt resolution of findings from program administrative reviews and 
audit findings. [7 CFR § 210.9(b)(17)] 

 
L. The SFA shall maintain responsibility for the implementation of the free and reduced price 

policy. [7 CFR § 245]  
 

M. The SFA shall develop, distribute, and collect the parent letter and application for free and 
reduced price meals (as appropriate). [7 CFR § 245.6]  

 
N. The SFA shall determine eligibility and verify applications for free and reduced price meals 

benefits and conduct any hearings related to such determinations. [7 CFR § 245.6, 6a, 7, 10]  
 

O. The SFA shall assure that the maximum amount of USDA Foods are received and utilized by 
the FSMC. [7 CFR § 210.9(b)(15)] 

 
P. The SFA shall maintain responsibility for procuring processing agreements, private storage 

facilities, or any other aspect of financial management relating to USDA Foods. [7 CFR § 250.15]  
 

SECTION III: Food Service Program 

 
3.1 The FSMC shall prepare and serve meals for the schools listed on Exhibit A 

(Schools/Enrollment/Attendance Factor/Free – Reduced Percentage/Serving Times/Waves/Child 
Nutrition Programs).  If not determined to be a material change, the SFA and the FSMC may agree to 
add other locations.  

 
3.2 All meals will be provided in accordance with the approved calendar, attached as Exhibit G. For the 

first twenty-one (21) days of food service, the FSMC will adhere to the 21-day cycle menu agreed upon 
by FSMC and the SFA. Changes thereafter may only be made with approval of the SFA. [7 CFR § 210.16 
(b)(1)]  
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3.3 The FSMC shall provide nutritious, high-quality (check only available options)  
 breakfasts (SBP)  lunches (NSLP) 
 Snacks (At-Risk Afterschool Snack - NSLP)  milk service only (SMP) 
 a la carte food (Smart Snacks)  vending (Smart Snacks) 
 breakfast/lunch (SFSP/Seamless)  fruit/vegetables (FFVP 
 supper (At-Risk Afterschool Program – CACFP)   

in accordance with the following terms: 
In order to offer a la carte food service, the FSMC must also offer free, reduced price and paid 
reimbursable meals to all eligible children (according to eligibility). [7 CFR § 210.16(a)]  

 
A. All reimbursable  lunches,  breakfasts and  snacks shall meet the qualifications for 

USDA reimbursement as described in 7 CFR § 210.10, 220.8, 225.16, and 226.20, et seq.  
 

B. Special Milk Program (SMP) 
  SFA does not participate in the SMP 

  OR 
  All reimbursable milks shall meet the qualifications for the USDA reimbursement under 7 
CFR § 215 

 
C. The SFA shall administer the application process for all free and reduced price meals, and shall 

establish and notify parents and guardians of program criteria for eligible students.  Both the 
SFA and the FSMC shall be responsible for protecting the anonymity of students receiving free 
or reduced price meals. [7 CFR § 210.16 (a)(5)]  

 
D. The FSMC shall collect gross sale receipts, on behalf of the SFA for (check box(es) for which the 

FSMC is responsible),  meals,  a la carte items, and  vending items.   Gross cash receipts 
shall be turned over to the SFA or deposited in the SFA’s account on a daily basis.  

 
E. The SFA and FSMC shall purchase domestic commodities and products for use in meals served 

in the NSLP to the maximum extent practicable and in compliance with the Buy American 
Provision under 7 CFR § 210.21(d)(2) and 7 CFR § 250.  

 
3.4 In cooperation with the SFA, the FSMC shall conduct on-going nutrition awareness programs for 

students, teachers, parents, and other interested parties.  
 

3.5 In accordance with USDA regulations, the FSMC shall make reasonable meal modifications for children 
whose physical or mental impairment restricts their diet, based on a written medical statement signed 
by a recognized medical authority.  [7 CFR 210.10 (m), 7 CFR 220.8 (m), and 7 CFR 15b] 

 
3.6 The FSMC shall cooperate with the SFA’s Advisory Board, consisting of students, parents, SFA staff, 

and a FSMC representative in developing menus and other food service program initiatives. 
 

3.7 Catering 
 SFA will not be requesting catered food service 

   OR 
 Upon request by the SFA, the FSMC shall provide catered food service at times and prices mutually 
agreed upon.  The SFA may, if a price cannot be agreed upon or the FSMC cannot provide the 
service, obtain outside catering services.  The FSMC shall submit catering invoices by the end of the 
month in which services were rendered.  Costs of catered functions shall not be supported by the 
nonprofit school food service account funds and USDA Foods will not be used.  The FSMC shall 
provide the SFA with copies of invoices and an invoice control log within ten (10) days after the end 
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of each month.  Catering invoices must be reflective of actual catering costs.  A percentage of sales or 
cost is unallowable.  Invoices must be noted as “unallowable costs” and must be paid from an 
account other than the non-profit school food service account.  USDA Foods will not be used for any 
functions outside of the non-profit school food service account.   

 
3.8 Fresh Fruit and Vegetable Program (FFVP) (Check one option below): 

 SFA does not participate in the FFVP 
   OR 

 FSMC will document and track all FFVP expenditures separately and make this documentation 
easily accessible for the SFA to review monthly.  

 
A.  FSMC will ensure it documents allowable costs to include but not limited to; actual labor costs,  

       administrative costs and fresh fruit and vegetable costs. 
B.  FSMC and SFA will ensure no more than ten percent (10%) of each awarded school’s grant will 

be claimed for administrative costs (planning and managing the program).  
C.  FSMC will ensure it expends all FFVP funds received per school. 

 
3.9 Clean Air Act – Federal Water Pollution Control Act. In performance of this contract, the FSMC shall 

comply with Section 306 of the Clean Air Act, Section 508 of the Clean Water Act, Executive Order 
11738, and EPA Regulations 40 CFR § 15, et seq.  Environmental violations shall be reported to the 
USDA and US EPA Assistant Administrator for Enforcement, and the FSMC agrees not to utilize a 
facility listed on the EPA’s “List of Violating Facilities.” [Appendix II to CFR § 200 (G)] 
 

3.10 Energy Policy and Conservation Act. The SFA and the FSMC shall recognize mandatory standards and 
policies relating to energy efficiency, which are contained in the state conservation plan issued in 
compliance with the Energy Policy and Conservation Act. [7 CFR § 3016.36(i)]  
 

3.11 Davis-Bacon Act.  In performance of this contract, the FSMC shall be in compliance with the Davis-
Bacon Act (40 U.S.C. 3141-3144 and 3146-3148) and Copland “Anti-Kickback” Act (40 U.S.C. 3145) 

 
3.12 Debarment and Suspension. The FSMC shall complete and submit to the SFA the Certification 

Regarding Debarment. The certification must accompany the four (4)   additional one-year renewals. 
Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion, 2 CFR § 180 as adopted and modified by 
USDA regulations at 2 CFR § 417 – The SFA must check the Excluded Parties List System (EPLS), 
collect a certification, or include a clause in the contract.  [Appendix II to CFR § 200 (H)] 

 
3.13 Byrd Anti-Lobbying Amendment. Pursuant to section 1352, Title 31, US Code, the FSMC shall complete 

and submit a Certificate Regarding Lobbying and a Disclosure of Lobbying Activities to the SFA.  
These certifications must accompany the four (4)   additional one-year renewals. [Appendix II to CFR § 
200 (I)]  
 

3.14 Rights to Inventions Made Under a Contract or Agreement. In performance of this contract, the FSMC 
shall comply with the requirements of 37 CFR Part 401. 
 

3.15 Summer Food Service (if applicable) 
 

A. Dates of participation:       
B. FSMC shall deliver meals to each of the annually selected and approved sites.  Meals provided 

shall be in compliance with all applicable USDA, state and local regulations.  
 



23 | P a g e  
 

C. The FSMC agrees to provide the SFSP Meals  
 Inclusive or  Exclusive of milk at a set, identified price per meal type and agrees to  
 Deliver Meals or  Have Meals available for Pick-up at an agreed upon time.  The Meals 

shall be made available  Unitized or  Non-Unitized per 7 CFR 225.6(h)(3). 
D. The FSMC shall not subcontract for the total meal, with or without milk, or for the assembly of 

the meal for the CACFP or SFSP. 7 CFR 226.21(e) and 225.6(h)(2)(ii) 
 

Section IV: USDA Foods 

 
4.1 The FSMC will provide the following services in relation to USDA Foods (Check only those duties below 

that the FSMC will provide):  
 

 Preparing and serving meals or    the monitoring of preparing and serving meals. 
      Ordering or selection of USDA Foods, in coordination with the SFA in    
  accordance with 7 CFR § 250.52. 

 Storage and inventory management of USDA Foods in accordance with 7 CFR § 250.52. 
 Payment of processing fees and or submittal of refund requests to a processor on behalf of the 
SFA, or remittance of refunds for the value of USDA Foods in processed end products to the 
SFA, in accordance with subpart C of  7 CFR § 250. 

 
4.2 The FSMC must credit the SFA for the value of all USDA Foods received for use in the SFA’s meals 

service in a school year, including the value of USDA Foods contained in processed end products if the 
FSMC procures processed end products on behalf of the SFA, or acts as an intermediary in passing the 
USDA Foods value in processed end products on to the SFA. 

 
4.3 The FSMC shall credit for USDA Foods by disclosure, i.e., the FSMC shall credit the SFA for the value 

of USDA Foods by disclosing, in its billing for food costs submitted to the SFA, the savings resulting 
from the receipt of USDA Foods for the billing period.  Crediting by disclosure does not affect the 
requirement that the FSMC shall only bill the SFA for net allowable costs.  The FSMC shall use the 
actual values assigned in the USDA’s Web Based Supply Chain Management (WEBSCM) system. 
 

4.4 All USDA Foods shall be used only in the SFA’s food service operations.  Commercially purchased 
foods of the same generic identity, of U.S. origin, and of equal or better quality than the donated foods 
may be used in the SFA’s food service operations. 
 

4.5 The FSMC must meet the general requirements in 7 CFR § 250.14(b) for the storage and inventory 
management of USDA Foods.  Additionally, the FSMC must ensure that its system of inventory 
management does not result in the SFA being charged for USDA Foods. 
 

4.6 Upon the termination of this contract, the FSMC must return all unused USDA Foods, including but 
not limited to ground beef, ground pork, and processed end products to the SFA. 
 

4.7 The SFA must ensure that the FSMC has credited it for the value of all USDA Foods received for use in 
the SFA’s meal service in the school year.  The FSMC agrees to cooperate and provide information 
reasonably requested by the SFA. 
 

4.8 The FSMC must ensure compliance with the requirements of subpart C of 7 CFR § 250 and with the 
provisions of the distributing and/or the SFA’s processing agreements in the procurement of processed 
end products on behalf of the SFA, and will ensure crediting of the SFA for the value of USDA Foods 
contained in such end products at the processing agreement value. 
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4.9 The FSMC shall not enter into the processing agreement with the processor required in subpart C of 7 
CFR § 250. 

 
4.10 The distributing agency, sub-distributing agency, or SFA, the Comptroller General, the USDA, or their 

duly authorized representatives, may perform on-site reviews of the FSMC’s food service operation, 
including the review of records, to ensure compliance with requirements for the management and use 
of USDA Foods. 

 
4.11 The FSMC shall maintain records to document its compliance with 7 CFR § 250.54(b). 

 
4.12 Any extension or renewal of the contract is contingent upon fulfillment of all provisions in this contract 

relating to USDA Foods. 
 

4.13 The FSMC must maintain the following records relating to the use of USDA Foods: 
 

A. The USDA Foods and processed end products received from, or on behalf of, the SFA, for use in 
the SFA’s food service operations; 
 

B. Documentation that it has credited the SFA for the value of all USDA Foods received for use in 
the SFA’s food service operations in the school year, including, in accordance with the 
requirements in 7 CFR § 250.51(a), the value of USDA Foods contained in processed end 
products; and 
 

C. Documentation of its procurement of processed end products on behalf of the SFA, as 
applicable. 

 
4.14 The SFA shall ensure that the FSMC is in compliance with the requirements of this section through its  

       monitoring of the food service operation, as required in 7 CFR §§ 210, 225, or 226, as applicable. 
 

4.15 The SFA shall conduct a reconciliation at least annually (and upon termination of the contract) to  
       ensure that the FSMC has credited it for the value of all USDA Foods received for use in the SFA’s food  

service in the school year, including, in accordance with the requirements in 7 CFR § 250.51(a), the 
value of USDA Foods contained in processed end products. 
 

4.16 All USDA Foods received by the SFA and made available to the FSMC shall accrue only to the benefit  
      of the SFA’s non-profit school food service program and shall be used therein. 

 
4.17 The FSMC shall have records available to substantiate the use of USDA Foods in reimbursable meal  

       pattern meals. 
 

4.18 The FSMC shall select, accept and use in as large quantities as may be used in SFA’s non-profit school  
       food service program, the type and quantities of available federally donated commodities, subject to  
       the approval of the SFA. 

 
4.19 Title of products purchased or processed using USDA Foods must remain within the SFA.  Any  

       charges incurred by the FSMC when processing or purchasing products containing government  
       commodities shall be processed for payment by the FSMC and charged back to the SFA as a food cost. 
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SECTION V: Equipment 

5.1 Prior Equipment/Investment Clause 

  The FSMC must absorb the current equipment loan balance for the cost of prior purchases of 
nonexpendable equipment used in the school food service program.  A copy of the SFA’s current 
Equipment Cost Loan Amortization Schedule is attached as Exhibit K.  The repayment schedule 
must not exceed five (5) years from initial amortization schedule. 

      OR 
  SFA does not require FSMC to absorb the current equipment loan balance for the cost of prior 

purchases of nonexpendable equipment used in the school food service program. 
 

5.2 Equipment Purchases 

  Equipment purchases were requested through the RFP. 
The FSMC shall purchase equipment on behalf of the SFA as noted:  

 in Exhibit J  as a total value or  as an maximum annual amount to be purchased which 
was requested in the RFP and included in the FSMC’s proposal in response to the RFP.  FSMC 

must properly procure requested equipment in an amount not to exceed $Click to enter dollar 
value (MUST BE REVIEWED ANNUALLY). The FSMC shall amortize the investment on a 
straight-line basis over five (5) years, commencing with the date each piece of equipment is placed 
in service.  Such amortization shall be charged as an Operating Expense.  Title to the investment 
shall be vested with the SFA when it is placed in service.  Payment must not commence prior to 
equipment being placed in service. 

 
If the Agreement expires or is terminated prior to the complete amortization of the investment, the 
SFA shall on the expiration date, or within five (5) days after receipt by either party of any notice 
of termination or non-renewal of this Agreement either: (i) retain the investment and continue to 
make payments to the FSMC that purchased the equipment in accordance with the agreed upon 
monthly amortization schedule; (ii) return the investment to the FSMC in full release of the 
unamortized portion of the investment; (iii) require the successor FSMC to repay the exiting FSMC 
the full unamortized amount and repay successor FSMC based on new amortization schedule, not 
to exceed five (5) years from initial amortization schedule; or (iv) pay the unamortized balance in 
full to the FSMC that purchased the equipment.     

     OR 
  The SFA did not request equipment purchases for this contract. 

 
5.3 The FSMC may only charge the SFA for reasonable, necessary and allocable purchases.  Any silence, 

absence or omission from the contract document specifications concerning any point shall be regarded 

as meaning that only the best commercial practices are to prevail, and that only materials (food, 

supplies, etc.) and workmanship of a quality that would normally be specified by the SFA be used.  

5.4 The FSMC may recommend to the SFA the purchase of new or replacement equipment as needed.  The 

FSMC shall account for all equipment and protect it from pilferage or destruction, and will coordinate 

the repair or replacement of any equipment not functioning properly with the designated SFA 

personnel that has repair responsibility. 

5.5 The FSMC shall operate and care for all equipment and food service areas (walls, windows, lights, etc.) 

in a clean, safe and healthy condition in accordance with standards acceptable to the SFA and comply 

with all applicable laws, ordinances, rules and regulations of federal, state and local authorities, normal 

wear and tear excepted. 
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5.6 The FSMC shall notify the SFA of any equipment belonging to the FSMC on SFA premises within ten 

(10) days of its placement on the SFA premises. 

5.7 The FSMC, upon termination of the contract, shall surrender all equipment and furnishings belonging 

to the SFA and/or purchased through this agreement in good repair and condition, normal wear and 

tear excepted. 

5.8 The SFA shall be responsible for repairs to all permanent fixtures such as faucets, lights, sewers, air 

conditioning, heating and all other electrical work not considered as being food equipment. 

5.9 The SFA shall be responsible for any losses which may arise due to equipment malfunction or loss of 

electrical power not within the control of the FSMC.   

5.10 The SFA shall not be responsible for loss or damage to equipment owned by the FSMC and located on 

the SFA premises with the exception of loss or damage caused by SFA beyond normal wear and tear.   

5.11 The SFA will provide the initial physical inventory of supplies and equipment available for use by the 
FSMC. 
 

5.12 The SFA shall furnish and install any equipment or make any structural changes needed to comply 
with federal, state and local laws. 
 

5.13 Each party shall, at no cost to the other, make all repairs, alterations, modifications, or replacements 
which may be necessary to correct any conditions of premises or equipment owned, leased or 
controlled by such Party which violate applicable building, sanitation, health, or safety law, ordinance, 
rule or regulation. 

5.14 All food preparation and serving equipment owned by the SFA shall remain on the premises of the 

SFA unless otherwise stated in writing by the SFA. 

5.15 Transportation Equipment and Vehicle.  Select one option below: 

  SFA does not require transportation equipment or vehicles.       
 

  The FSMC shall provide transportation vehicles and equipment to be used in the food service 
program. Maintenance, fuel, insurance, and equipment for transportation shall be the responsibility 
of the FSMC. 

 

SECTION VI: Facilities 

 
6.1 The SFA shall furnish at its expense, space, light, heat, power, hot and cold water and other utilities as 

are necessary for the operation of the food services to be furnished hereunder. 
 

6.2 The SFA shall make available without cost to the FSMC, areas of the premises agreeable to both parties 
in which the FSMC shall render its services; such areas as are reasonably necessary for providing 
efficient food service.  The SFA is responsible for maintaining the facilities in a good state of repair and 
free from vermin. 

 
6.3 The SFA retains the right to rent food service facilities during non-school hours or weekends, provided 

that such rental does not interfere with the normal food service operation.  When such activities take 
place, the SFA may require that a member(s) of the food service staff designated by the resident 
manager be on duty, and be reimbursed.  If the SFA approves the use of the facilities for extracurricular 
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activities before or after the SFA’s regularly scheduled meal periods, the SFA shall return facilities and 
equipment to the FSMC in the same condition as received, normal wear and tear excepted. 

 
6.4 The FSMC shall not use the SFA’s facilities to produce food, meals or services for other organizations 

without the approval of the SFA.  If such usage is mutually agreeable, there shall be a signed agreement 
which stipulates the fees to be paid by the FSMC to the SFA for such facility usage. 

 
6.5 The SFA shall have unlimited access to all areas used by the FSMC for purposes of inspections and 

audits. 
 

6.6 The SFA shall provide, without cost to the FSMC, suitable office facilities, including furniture and 
equipment, for use by the FSMC in performance of this contract. The FSMC shall take reasonable care 
of the office facilities and equipment, and shall return them to the SFA in good condition upon 
termination of this contract, normal wear and tear excepted. 

 

SECTION VII: Sanitation and Safety 

 
7.1 The FSMC shall be responsible for usual and customary cleaning and sanitation of the SFA’s food 

service facilities to include: housekeeping, preparation, storage and equipment.  The FSMC will also 
make adjustments to practices and operation of equipment as required.  
 

7.2 The FSMC shall be responsible for housekeeping and sanitation in areas used for food preparation, 
storage, and service, and shall clean and sanitize dishes, pots, pans, utensils, equipment, and similar 
items. 
 

7.3 The FSMC shall comply with all local and state sanitation requirements in the preparation and service 
of food. 
 

7.4 The FSMC shall maintain safety programs for employees as required by federal, state, and local 
authorities, including the FSMC’s corporate policies. 
 

7.5 The FSMC shall place garbage and trash in appropriate containers in the designated areas.   
 

7.6 The FSMC shall cooperate in the SFA recycling program. 
 

7.7 The FSMC shall clean the kitchen area, equipment, including but not limited to sinks, counters, tables, 
chairs, silverware and utensils. 
 

7.8 The SFA shall designate a refuse collection area and the FSMC shall be responsible for transporting 
refuse to the designated refuse collection area.  The SFA shall remove all garbage and trash from the 
designated areas.   
 

7.9 The SFA shall be responsible for cleaning of floors in the dining, serving and kitchen areas, walls, 
ceilings, tables and chairs in the cafeteria/dining area.   
 

7.10 The SFA shall be responsible for painting and miscellaneous repairs within the kitchen and dining 
areas. 
 

7.11 The SFA shall be responsible for the required cleaning and maintenance of dining areas, as well as 
periodic cleaning of all ceiling and light fixtures, air ducts, and hood vent systems (as per local 
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ordinance). The SFA shall also provide and maintain adequate fire extinguishing equipment for food 
service areas and provide necessary pest control.  If the SFA is unable to perform any of its 
responsibilities described in this paragraph, the FSMC may, with the written approval of the SFA, 
temporarily assume those responsibilities and shall bill the SFA for any costs incurred. 
 

7.12 The SFA shall provide, at the SFA’s expense, maintenance personnel and outside maintenance services, 
parts, and supplies as is necessary to properly maintain the food service facilities and equipment. 
 

7.13 The SFA shall obtain necessary health permits and certification for its facilities.  The premises and 
equipment provided by each party in performance of this contract shall comply with all applicable 
building, safety, sanitation, and health laws; and shall satisfy all permit requirements, ordinances, 
rules, and regulations, including the federal Occupational Health and Safety Act of 1970 or applicable 
state act and standards promulgated thereunder.  The FSMC shall take reasonable and proper care of 
all premises and equipment in its custody and control and shall use them in a manner that will not 
cause violation of applicable laws, ordinances, rules, and regulations, including any reporting and 
record-keeping requirements.  If at any time the FSMC is notified by an authorized government agency 
that the SFA’s premises or equipment are not in compliance with any law, ordinance, rule, or 
regulation, the FSMC shall immediately inform the SFA of such notification. 

 

SECTION VIII: Employees 

 
8.1 The FSMC shall provide sufficient and qualified management and professional employees to manage 

the food service operations and supervise all employees employed therein who meet the USDA 
Professional Standards for Food Service Professionals. 
 

8.2 Non-Management Employees.  
  All non-management food service employees shall be employees of the FSMC. 

     OR 
  All non-management food service employees shall be employees of the SFA; will be directed and 
supervised by FSMC Food Service Director 

 
8.3 Student Workers.  

  The SFA does not utilize student workers in the food service program. 
     OR 

  The SFA has a policy of providing work experience for its students as part of the educational 
curriculum and as such, the SFA may assign students for work in the food service operation in such 
numbers as are agreed upon between the SFA and the FSMC. 

 
8.4 The FSMC shall prepare and process the payroll for and shall pay its employees directly.  The FSMC 

further warrants that it shall withhold or pay as appropriate all applicable federal and state 
employment taxes and payroll insurance with respect to its employees, specifically including, but not 
limited to, any income, social security, and unemployment taxes and workers’ compensation 
payments. 
 

8.5 Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act: The FSMC and its employees shall comply with all 
wage and hours of employment requirements of federal and state laws and regulations, including the 
Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, Appendix II to § 200 (E).  All employees of the FSMC 
shall be paid in accordance with the Fair Labor Standards Act, as amended and any other applicable 
statutes.  In addition, the FSMC will comply with all applicable federal and state employment statutes, 
including those statutes pertaining to labor relations. 



29 | P a g e  
 

8.6 The FSMC shall establish schedules, wage rates, and benefit programs for all employees.   
 

8.7 The FSMC shall have the sole responsibility to compensate its employees, including all applicable 
taxes, insurances and worker’s compensation and shall be solely responsible for any losses incurred by 
the SFA, resulting from dishonest, fraudulent or negligent acts on the part of its employees or agents.  
The FSMC is required to provide a fidelity bond for all FSMC employees.   
 

8.8 The FSMC shall procure Workers’ Compensation Insurance or shall maintain a system of self-insurance 
in conformance with applicable state law covering its employees and shall provide proof of such 
coverage or system to the SFA. 
 

8.9 The FSMC shall maintain its own personnel policies and fringe benefits for its employees.  The FSMC 
shall supply with this proposal a full description of the proposed benefit package, including but not 
limited to, levels of coverage, co-pay features and any other limitations. 
 

8.10 The FSMC must provide a resident Food Service Director who will be approved by the SFA and will be 
responsible for directing the food services program and implementing cooperatively agreed upon 
strategies for maximizing participation in the Child Nutrition Programs.  The Director shall be 
available to meet with principals, students, and staff to determine ways to improve the program.  The 
Director must also be available to participate in town or Board of Education meetings when food 
service matters are to be discussed with appropriate notice given.   
 

8.11 The FSMC shall instruct its employees to abide by the policies, rules and regulations, with respect to its 
use of District premises as established by SFA from time to time and which are furnished in writing to 
the FSMC. 
 

8.12 Civil Rights 
A. The FSMC shall comply with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and the implementing 

regulations of the USDA issued there under and any additions or amendments thereto.  The 
FSMC shall assure the SFA that it is an equal opportunity employer and does not discriminate 
on the basis of race, color, creed, gender, physical or mental disability, or any other classification 
protected by state and federal anti-discrimination statutes.  The FSMC shall provide personnel 
for its obligations under the Contract who have the necessary qualifications.   

 
"The program applicant hereby agrees that it will comply with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 
1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000d et seq.), Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. § 1681 
et seq.), Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. § 794), the Age Discrimination 
Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. § 6101 et seq.); all provisions required by the implementing regulations of 
the Department of Agriculture; Department of Justice Enforcement Guidelines, 28 CFR §§ SO.3 
and 42; and FNS directives and guidelines, to the effect that, no person shall, on the grounds of 
race, color, national origin, sex, age, or disability, be excluded from participation in, be denied 
benefits of, or otherwise be subject to discrimination under any program or activity for which 
the program applicant receives federal financial assistance from FNS; and hereby gives 
assurance that it will immediately take measures necessary to effectuate this agreement.” 

 
“By accepting this assurance, the program applicant agrees to compile data, maintain records, 
and submit reports as required, to permit effective enforcement of nondiscrimination laws and 
permit authorized USDA personnel during hours of program operation to review such records, 
books, and accounts as needed to ascertain compliance with the nondiscrimination laws. If 
there are any violations of this assurance, the Department of Agriculture, FNS, shall have the 
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right to seek judicial enforcement of this assurance. This assurance is binding on the Program 
applicant, its successors, transferees, and assignees as long as it receives assistance or retains 
possession of any assistance from USDA.  The person or persons whose signatures appear 
below are authorized to sign this assurance on the behalf of the Program applicant.” 

 
B. The SFA and the FSMC shall comply with Executive Order 11246, entitled “Equal Employment 

Opportunity” as amended by Executive Order 11375, and as supplemented in Department of 
Labor regulations (41 CFR § 60).  [Appendix II to § 200 (C)]   

 
C. The FSMC and the SFA shall abide by the requirements of 41 CFR §§ 60-1.4(a), 60-300.5(a) and 

60-741.5(a).  These regulations prohibit discrimination against qualified individuals based on 

their status as protected veterans or individuals with disabilities, and prohibit discrimination 

against all individuals based on their race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.  Moreover, 

these regulations require that covered prime contractors and subcontractors take affirmative 

action to employ and advance in employment individuals without regard to race, color, 

religion, sex, national origin, protected veteran status or disability. 

8.13 The FSMC shall be responsible for obtaining any necessary fingerprint clearances for its employees as 
required by law.  The FSMC shall provide all necessary forms and/or documentation for such 
employees to the SFA.  
 

8.14 The FSMC shall ensure that all food service employees comply with the rules of the Connecticut State 
Department of Education (CSDE) regarding fingerprinting and criminal background checks. 

 

SECTION IX: Free and Reduced-Price Lunch Policy and Charging Policy 

 
9.1 The written policy of the SFA requiring feeding of students who qualify for free, reduced-price, or full- 

price meals, shall apply to the FSMC’s food service operation.  The policy is on file in the SFA office.  
The SFA shall be responsible for the implementation of this policy. 
 

9.2 The FSMC will be responsible for implementing policies covering free, reduced-price, and full-price 
meals and milk programs for those students designated by the SFA as meeting federal and state agency 
requirements for those programs.  All such meals shall be served and accounted for in a manner 
approved by the SFA so as to protect the anonymity of the recipients.  Meals shall be served and 
proper, accurate student participation records shall be maintained by the FSMC. 
 

9.3 Per CSDE Operational Memorandum 4-17, the SFA shall have a written student charging policy,that 
ensures a “transparent approach to the issue”, on file in the SFA office.  The SFA shall be responsible 
for the implementation of this policy and supply the FSMC with a written copy.  The FSMC will work 
with the SFA to administer policy. 

 

SECTION X:  Meals – Portions, Planning, and Procurement 

 
10.1 The FSMC may recommend meal prices and portions for approval by the SFA.  The FSMC shall not 

alter the prices once approved without prior notice and approval by the SFA.  [7 CFR § 210.16(a)(4)]  
The SFA shall retain control of the quality, extent, and general nature of its food service, and the prices 
to be charged for all meals. 
 

10.2 The FSMC shall submit with the proposal a twenty-one (21) day cycle menu and a Daily Menu Pattern 
for the SFA’s schools.  The FSMC must adhere to this cycle for the first twenty-one (21) days of meal 
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service; thereafter, changes may be made with the mutual agreement of the SFA and the FSMC.  
However, the menu standard as presented in the first twenty-one (21) day menu and the Daily Menu 
Pattern, must be maintained as to type and quality of meal service.  The Daily Menu Pattern should 
clearly indicate the number and type of choices and offerings that will be offered at all grade levels. 
 

10.3 The FSMC shall provide, upon request by the SFA, menus to be reviewed by a school lunch committee, 
approved by the SFA and available for distribution ten (10) days prior to preparation and service of 
foods. 

 
10.4 The FSMC shall be responsible for purchasing standards and specifications to bring about the best 

quality and price for the food service program.  The FSMC shall comply with the grade, purchase unit, 
style, weight, ingredients, formulations, etc., for foods served as agreed upon with the SFA.  The 
minimum procurement specifications are listed on Schedule B. 
 

10.5 The FSMC shall serve reimbursable meal pattern lunches pursuant to the NSLP.  For purposes of this 
proposal, lunch prices as per attached listing shall be used as a guide for calculations (reference 2020-

2021-Schedule C). 
 
10.6 The FSMC may offer a choice of reimbursable meal pattern lunches and shall provide specified types of 

service as listed in Exhibit A. 
 
10.7 The FSMC shall provide condiments and utensils as needed. 
 
10.8 The FSMC shall use the SFA’s facilities for the preparation of food to be served in the designated 

serving areas.  This may include cafeterias, classrooms, hallways etc. 
 
10.9 The FSMC shall promote maximum participation in the Child Nutrition Programs. 
 
10.10 BUY AMERICAN PROVISION: The SFA and FSMC shall purchase, to the maximum extent practicable, 

domestic commodities or products which are either an agricultural commodity produced in the United 
States (U.S.) or a food product processed in the U.S. substantially using agricultural commodities 
produced in the U.S. for use in meals served in the SFA’s Child Nutrition Programs in compliance with 
the Buy American Provision under 7 CFR § 210.21(d)(2) and 7 CFR § 250.  
Exceptions to the Buy American Provision should be used as a last resort; however, an alternative or 
exception may be approved upon request.  To be considered for the alternative or exception, the 
request must be submitted in writing to a designated official, a minimum of 2 day(s) in advance of 
delivery.  The request must include: 

A. Alternative substitute (s) that are domestic and meet the required specifications: 
i. Price of the domestic food alternative substitution (s); and 

ii. Availability of the domestic alternative substitute (s) in relation to the quantity ordered. 
B. Reason for exception: limited/lack of availability or price (include price); 

i. Price of the domestic food product; and  
ii. Price of non-domestic product that meets the required specification of the domestic 

product. 
 

10.11 The FSMC shall act as the SFA’s procurement agent.   
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SECTION XI: Food Inventory and Storage 

 
11.1 The FSMC shall purchase all food and non-food commodities at the lowest price possible, consistent 

with maintaining quality standards.  The SFA retains the right to verify these standards. 
 

11.2 Ownership of beginning and ending inventory of food and supplies, including USDA Foods, shall 
remain with the SFA. 
 

11.3 The FSMC shall maintain adequate storage practices, inventory and control of USDA Foods in 
conformance with SFA’s agreement with the CSDE. 
 

11.4 The SFA and FSMC shall conduct a joint inventory of existing food and operational supplies at both the 
beginning and the end of this contract.  If the ending inventory is less than the value of the beginning 
inventory the FSMC will credit the SFA for the difference.  The cost of food and operational supplies 
ordered by the FSMC on behalf of the SFA in performance of this contract shall be paid for by the 
FSMC and the FSMC shall then be reimbursed for those costs incurred.  The inventory of food and 
operational supplies shall remain the SFA’s property. 
 

11.5 The SFA and the FSMC shall inventory the equipment and commodities owned by the SFA at the 
beginning of the contract year, including, but not limited to, consumable and non-consumable flatware, 
trays, china, glassware and food.  The FSMC shall be responsible for reimbursing the SFA for all 
shortages noted on the year-end inventory. 
 

SECTION XII: Financial: Accounting, Reporting Systems, Records, and Payment Terms 

 
12.1 The FSMC shall assume accountability and responsibility for daily bookkeeping and recording  

functions, including state and federal reimbursements through: 

A. Weekly Profit and Loss Statements; 

B. Monthly Profit and Loss Statements; 

C. Annual Budgeting; 

D. Perpetual Inventory – Costs and Controls; 

E. Preparation of records for annual audit by SFA; 

F. USDA Foods Entitlement Bonus Summary Reports; and 

G. Department of Defense (DoD) Program Reports. 

 
12.2 The FSMC shall prepare information necessary for school lunch claims for reimbursement from state  

      and federal agencies and maintain such records, as the SFA will need to support its claims for  

      reimbursement under the Child Nutrition Programs.  The SFA shall retain signature authority on the  

      CSDE-SFA Agreement for Child Nutrition Programs (ED-099), including all addenda, free and reduced  

      price policy statement, and claims for reimbursement.  The FSMC shall report the claim information to  

      the SFA promptly at the end of each month or more frequently as specified by the SFA.  [7 CFR § 

      210.16(c)(1)]  

 

12.3 The FSMC shall maintain such records (supported by invoices, receipts or other evidence) as the SFA  

       will need to meet monthly reporting responsibilities and shall submit monthly operating statements in  

       a format approved by the SFA no later than the 10th calendar day succeeding the month in which  

       services were rendered; participation records shall be submitted no later than the 10th calendar day  

       succeeding the month in which services were rendered.  Reimbursement for direct expenses will only  
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       be allowed if previously included in the original or amended budget submitted to the SFA.   

 

A. The FSMC shall maintain records to support all allowable expenses appearing on the monthly 

operating statement in an orderly fashion according to expense categories. 

 

B. The FSMC shall provide monthly and other reports to the SFA, which describes operating costs, 

meals per labor hour, meals served, etc.  

 

C. The FSMC shall provide the SFA with a year-end financial statement. 

 

12.4 The FSMC shall bill the SFA for the actual direct costs of operation incurred at the close of each month  

       of program operation.   

 

12.5 The SFA shall designate by name and title the employee whose responsibility it shall be to manage the   

SFA/FSMC contract and to ensure the SFA meets all its responsibilities hereunder.  This includes but is 

not limited to monitoring contract performance, completing periodic on-site review forms (minimum 

of 2 per year per site), reviewing monthly invoices, conducting an audit of invoices (if necessary to 

ensure SFA is charged correctly), ensuring SFA receives proper credit for USDA Foods, ensuring SFA 

receives all discounts, rebates and credits, etc.         

 

Richard Freeman   Director of Finance & Human Resources 

 

12.6 Books and records of the FSMC pertaining to the school feeding operations shall be available at the SFA  

       for a period of three (3) years from the end of the fiscal year to which they pertain, for inspection and  

       audit by either state, or federal representatives and auditors.  In instances where audit findings have  

       not been resolved, the records must be retained beyond the 3-year period until resolution of the issues  

       raised by the audit. 

 

12.7 The FSMC must exclude all unallowable costs from its billing documents and certify that only  

       allowable costs are submitted for payment and records have been established that maintain the  

       visibility of unallowable costs, including directly associated costs in a manner suitable for contract cost  

determination and verification.  Unallowable costs must not be paid from the non-profit school food 

service account and must be reflective of actual costs.  A percentage of costs charged to the SFA is 

unallowable. 

 

A. Allowable costs will be paid from the nonprofit school food service account to the FSMC net of 

all discounts, rebates and other applicable credits accruing to or received by the FSMC or any 

assignee under the contract, to the extent those credits are allocable to the allowable portion of 

the costs billed to the SFA. 

 

B. The FSMC’s determination of its allowable costs must be made in compliance with the 

applicable USDA and Program regulations and Office of Management and Budget cost circulars 

as detailed in 2 CFR § 200. 

 

C. The FSMC must identify the amount of each discount, rebate and other applicable credit, with 

the exception of the FSMC’s prompt payment discounts for payments made to vendors, on bills 
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and invoices presented to the SFA for payment and individually identify the amount as a 

discount, rebate, or in the case of other applicable credits, the nature of the credit.   

 

D. The frequency of reporting this information must be monthly.   

 

E. The FSMC must identify the method by which it will report discounts, rebates and other 

applicable credits allocable to the contract that are not reported prior to the conclusion of the 

contract.   

                                                                       

 

F. The FSMC must maintain documentation of cost and discounts, rebates and other applicable 

credits, and must furnish such documentation upon request to the school food authority, CSDE, 

or the USDA.  The FSMC shall return the value of all discounts, rebates and all other applicable 

credits allocable to the contract to the SFA. 

 

12.8 Invoice Due Date.  Invoices submitted to the SFA by the FSMC will be paid according to the SFA’s  

       “Accounts Payable Cut-Off Schedule,” attached as Exhibit L.  If invoices are received in the SFA’s  

accounting department by the cut-off date, and they are approved, payment will be made on the 

release date listed on the schedule.  The FSMC will be notified immediately of any invoice that is not 

approved.  The SFA reserves the right to request additional supporting documentation for any invoice. 

The SFA shall pay all amounts when due.   

 

12.9 The SFA Select one option allow the FSMC to charge interest on past due payments at one percent (1%) 

per month or the maximum contractual interest rate allowed by applicable state law, whichever is less.  

Any interest payments must be paid from a SFA general fund and must not be paid from the nonprofit 

school food service account.   

 

12.10 The FSMC shall submit supporting documents and invoice to the SFA monthly for the following direct, 

actual costs, Administrative Fee and Management Fee:  

 

A. The actual and direct costs for the wages, taxes, and benefits of the FSMC employees at each 

site, food service director and other management employees on the FSMC’s payroll.  

    Employees are employed by the SFA and paid directly by SFA. 

B. Direct operating costs paid by the FSMC arising from performance of this contract.  Direct 

operating costs are defined as:  

 food and supply purchases by the FSMC necessary to perform this contract;  

 food service program travel and mileage costs incurred;  

 advertising and promotions within the SFA;  

 the FSMC’s insurance necessary for performance of this contract;  

 service business and occupation tax; 

 employee training and development costs; 

 laundry, linen, and uniforms; 

 licenses and permits for performance of this contract; and 

 USDA Foods delivery and storage fees. 

C. The FSMC’s Management Fee (FSMC’s profit) for August/September – June is: 
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  ___________ per month for ten (10) months.  Fee Total: _________ 

OR 

  $Click to enter dollar value per meal and meal equivalent. 

 

D. The FSMC’s Administrative Fee is: 

  ________ per month for ten (10) months.  Fee Total: __________ 

OR 

  $Click to enter dollar value per meal and meal equivalent. 

 

The following functions are the FSMC’s responsibility, and will be included in such fees:  

 Corporate supervision; 

 Financial reporting and analysis; 

 Field auditing; 

 Marketing Assistance; and 

 Purchasing. 

E. Summer Food Program (if applicable) 

1. The FSMC’s Management Fee (FSMC’s profit) is _______ per meal. 

2. The FSMC’s Administrative Fee is _______ per meal. 

F. Per Meal Defined: Choose one option below - only if the per meal equivalent option in 12.11.c or 

12.11.d was selected. 

  For Management Fee and Administrative Fee purposes, each reimbursable lunch shall be 

considered one (1) meal/meal equivalent, each reimbursable breakfast shall be considered 

one-half (1/2) of a meal/meal equivalent, and one reimbursable snack shall be considered 

one-fourth (1/4) of a meal/meal equivalent.   

OR 

  Per meal/meal equivalent defined in addendum. 

For Management Fee and Administrative Fee purposes, the number of meal equivalents 

shall be determined by dividing the total of all sales except reimbursable meal sales 

(including cash for adult meals, a la carte meals, and snack bar sales) by the free 

reimbursement rate plus the per meal value of commodities of the current school year.   

 

G. Expenses paid by the FSMC and not charged to the SFA or the food service operation and are 

unallowable include:  

 reports filed to the state; and 

 corporate income tax. 

H. Fee Adjustments:  Upon mutual written agreement of the SFA and the FSMC, the Management 

Fee and Administrative Fee may be adjusted annually.  Except as otherwise agreed by the SFA 

and the FSMC, such adjustment shall be by no more than the percentage of change in the 

Consumer Price Index (“CPI”) for all Urban Consumers (CPI-U U.S. city average), Northeast 

Region, Food Away from Home for the preceding year (April – March).  Upon acceptance by 

the SFA, such increase in fees shall be incorporated into any renewal of this contract.  
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I. The SFA does not participate in the FFVP, thus, the FSMC must provide assurances that it will 

document and track FFVP expenses separately and make this documentation easily accessible 

for the SFA to review. 

 

J. No payment shall be made for meals or snacks that are spoiled or unwholesome at the time of 

service, or do not meet specifications developed by the SFA, or do not otherwise meet the 

requirements of this contract. [7 CFR § 210.16 (c)(3).]  No deduction in payment shall be made 

by the SFA unless the SFA notifies the FSMC in writing within 48 hours hours of the meal 

service for which the deduction is to be made, specifying the number of meals for which a 

deduction is to be made and describing the reasons for the deduction. 

 

K. Every payment obligation of the SFA under this contract is conditioned upon the availability of 

funds appropriated or allocated for the payment of such obligation.  If funds are not allocated 

and available for the continuance of this contract, this contract may be terminated by the SFA at 

the end of the period for which funds are available.  No liability shall accrue to the SFA in the 

event this provision is exercised, and the SFA shall not be obligated or liable for any future 

payments or for any damages as a result of termination under this paragraph.  Notwithstanding 

the forgoing, the SFA shall be liable for the payment of services rendered up through and 

including the date of termination. 

 

L. Guarantee:  The SFA and the FSMC shall work together to ensure a financially sound and well-

run food service operation.  The FSMC shall guarantee that the food service program will 

achieve financial:  (select one option)  

  Breakeven; defined as “generated program revenues will be sufficient to cover all actual     

and direct operating costs incurred. 

 

  Surplus; defined as “generated program revenues will exceed all actual and direct operating 

costs incurred. 

 

  Deficit; defined as “generated program revenues will not be sufficient to cover all actual 

and direct operating costs incurred.  If the contract guarantee is determined to be a deficit, 

the deficit must be no more than Click to enter dollar value which is payable from the non-

profit school foods service account only if the SFA has a balance greater than its three month 

operating expenditures.  If the account does not have an allowable balance, any deficit must 

be paid from an account other than the non-profit school food service account (e.g. BOE, 

general fund, etc.). 

 

 

Actual and direct operating costs are as described in paragraphs 12.11 A - E above. 

1. Assumptions 

a. Attendance/Enrollment 

 Average Daily Attendance (ADA) for 2021-22 shall not be less than:  enter text  

     Or 

 Student Enrollment for 2021-22 will not be less than 2,000 students   

 

 

b. The projected number of full feeding days:  
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School Breakfast Lunch 

Elementary Click to enter text  Click to enter text  

Middle Click to enter text  Click to enter text  

High 180  153 

 

c. The value of USDA Foods Planned Assistance Level will not be less than the USDA 

2020 effective rate or the previous year’s effective rate for an allowable executed 

renewal. 

M. Renegotiation of Financial Terms.  The renegotiation of price terms under this agreement is 
permitted only upon the occurrence of unpredictable, unexpected conditions beyond the control 
of the parties.  Renegotiation of price terms under such conditions must be mutual, and any 
changes in price terms must be agreed upon by both parties.  Any adjustments so negotiated 
and agreed upon must accurately reflect the change in conditions.  The occurrence of 
contingencies that are foreseeable and predictable, but not certain, should be calculated into the 
defined price terms to the extent possible, with the goal of minimizing the need for 
renegotiation of price terms during the term of the agreement.   
 
If those conditions create a significant and material change in the financial assumptions upon 
which the price terms of this agreement are based, the SFA must go out to bid for a new 
contract.  
 

N. Nonperformance.  The FSMC shall pay the SFA any over claims due to FSMC negligence or 
noncompliance with regulations, including those over claims based on review or audit findings.  
This provision shall be based on the 3-year record retention period as established in 7 CFR 
210.23(c).   

 

SECTION XIII: Licenses, Fees and Taxes 

 
13.1 The SFA shall obtain and post all applicable health permits for its facilities and assure that all state and 

local regulations are being met by the FSMC preparing or serving meals at a SFA facility. 
 

13.2 The FSMC shall comply with all health and safety regulations required by federal, state or local law 
and shall have state or local health certification for any facility outside the SFA in which it proposes to 
prepare meals or meal components and the FSMC shall maintain this health certification for the 
duration of the contract.  The FSMC must meet all applicable state and local health regulations in 
preparing and serving meals at the SFA facility. 

 
13.3 The FSMC shall comply with all building rules and regulations.   The SFA shall supply the FSMC with 

a copy of any written aforementioned documents. 
 

SECTION XIV: Performance Bond  

 
14.1 As a condition to entry into this contract, the successful vendor shall provide to the SFA a performance 

bond equaling ten percent (10%) of the contract’s value associated with the Summer Food Service 
Program. This performance bond will guarantee the vendor’s faithful performance.   For the successful 
FSMC, the performance bond is required annually, in each year of the contract, to be submitted to the 
SFA Business Office no later than April 1, each year.  A copy of the Performance Bond must be 
submitted to the CSDE.  
As a condition of entry into this contract,  
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 the successful vendor shall provide to the SFA a performance bond equaling ten percent (10%)  of 
the contract’s value associated with the Summer Food Service Program.  

 
 the successful vendor shall provide to the SFA a performance bond equaling      % (percentage 
must not be excessive to inhibit full and open competition) of the contract’s total value. 

 
 the successful vendor shall provide to the SFA a performance bond equaling      % of costs 
associated with construction. 

 
 the successful vendor shall not be required to submit a performance bond.  

 
This performance bond will guarantee the vendor’s faithful performance.   For the successful FSMC, 
the performance bond is required annually, in each year of the contract, to be submitted to the SFA 
Business Office no later than April 1, each year.  A copy of the Performance Bond must be submitted to 
the CSDE as supporting documentation to any renewal amendment. 
 

14.2 xxx(Amount of the Performance Bond). 
 

SECTION XV: Insurance 

The FSMC shall maintain for the life of the contract, the insurance coverage set forth below for each accident 
provided by insurance companies authorized to do business in the state of Connecticut with a rating by AM 
Best of “A” or better.  A certificate of insurance indicating these amounts must be submitted at the time of 
award. 
15.1 Comprehensive General Liability - $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit includes coverage for: 
 

A. Premises-Operations; 
B. Products/Completed Operations; 
C. Contractual Insurance; 
D. Broad Form Property Damage; 
E. Independent Contractors; 
F. Personal Injury; and 
G. Employee Dishonesty. 

 
15.2 Automobile Liability 
 

$1,000,000 combined Single Limit 

15.3 Worker’s Compensation and Employer’s Liability 
 

A. Worker’s compensation – Statutory; and 
B. Employer’s Liability - $500,000. 

 
15.4 The Norwich Free Academy Board of Education and the Town of N/A shall be additional named 

insured’s on Comprehensive General Liability, Auto, and Workers’ Compensation (Employer’s 
Liability Only) policies. 
 

15.5 The contract of insurance shall provide for notice to the SFA of cancellation of insurance policies thirty 
(30) days before such cancellation is to take effect. 

15.6 The FSMC agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Board, the Town of N/A and each of their 
respective members, employees, officers and agents from and against any claims, demands, losses, 
costs or liabilities for personal injury or property damage or any other loss which may result from the 
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FSMC’s performance or lack of performance of the Contract.   Such “losses” shall include all reasonable 
attorney’s fees and costs incurred in the representation of the Board, the Town, or any of their 
respective members, officers, employees or agents in any suit or claim arising from the FSMC’s 
performance or lack of performance of the Contract or arising from the enforcement of this provision. 
 

15.7 The FSMC shall obtain and keep in force during this contract, for the protection of the SFA and the 
FSMC, Comprehensive General Bodily Injury and Property Damage Liability Insurance in the 
combined single limit of $1,000,000 (no less than $1,000,000).  That insurance shall include, but not be 
limited to, Personal Injury Liability, Broad Form Property Damage Liability, Blanket Contractual 
Liability, and Products Liability, covering only the operations of the FSMC under this contract, and 
shall deliver to the SFA a certificate evidencing such policies and coverage within thirty (30) days after 
the execution of this agreement by the parties.  The insurance policies shall contain a covenant by the 
issuing company that the policies will not be canceled unless a thirty (30) day prior written notice of 
cancellation is given to the SFA.  The policies for $1,000,000 coverage shall also name the SFA as an 
Additional Insured, but only with respect to operations of the FSMC under this agreement.  
 

15.8 Unless otherwise expressly provided, the SFA and the FSMC shall remain responsible for all claims, 
liability, loss, and expense, including reasonable costs, collection expenses, and attorney’s fees 
incurred, which arise by reasons of negligent or wrongful act or omission of the party, its agents, or its 
employees in the performance of its obligations under this agreement. 

 

SECTION XVI: Contract Term, Renewal and Termination 

 
16.1 This contract, dated Click to enter date, is between Click to enter FSMC Name, the FSMC and 

Norwich Free Academy, the SFA: 
 

A. This contract sets forth the terms and conditions upon which the SFA retains the FSMC to 
manage and operate the SFA’s food service for the SFA’s students, employees, and visitors. 

  
B. The contract shall be for a period of one year with the school year beginning on or about 

08.31.21, and ending 06.20.22 with up to four (4)  one-year renewal(s) with mutual agreement 
between the SFA and the FSMC.  [7 CFR § 210.16 (d)]  
 

16.2 The contract cannot be assigned or otherwise transferred or conveyed by either party without the  
written consent of the other.   Consideration for the contract renewal by the SFA and the FSMC will be 
made in compliance with the rules and regulations prescribed by the Connecticut Commissioner of 
Education or State Board of Education and federal regulations, as prescribed by the USDA. 
 

16.3 With the exception of payment obligations for prior performance under this contract, neither party 
shall be liable for the failure to perform their respective obligations under this contract when such 
failure is caused by fire, explosion, water, act of God, civil disorder, strikes, vandalism, war, riot, 
sabotage, weather and energy related closings, governmental rules or regulations or other like caused 
beyond the reasonable control of such party, nor for any real or personal property destroyed or 
damaged due to such causes.  The FSMC shall resume food service operations as soon as possible.  
[Appendix II to § 200 (B] 
 

16.4 The Meal Equivalency Rate used in the contract shall be adjusted annually and must be set no lower  
than the current free lunch reimbursement rate plus the per meal commodity foods reimbursement. 

 
16.5 If both parties agree to a contract renewal, the parties will work together to gather and complete all  
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required documents for submission.  The SFA will be responsible for drafting and submitting all 
contract renewal documents to the CSDE.  Failure of the SFA to submit executed documents by July 1 
each year may result in the disallowance of expenditures paid from the non-profit school food service 
account. 
 

16.6 Recovery of prior year FSMC losses from current year food service program  
surpluses is unallowable. 
 

TERMINATION 
 
16.7 Either party may terminate the contract for cause by giving sixty (60) days’ notice in writing to the  

other party of its intention to do so. [7 CFR § 210.16 (d)]   
 
16.8 If a cure or remedy is found for the termination request by mutual agreement of the contracting parties,  

the termination or non-renewal letter must be withdrawn in writing by the terminating party within 
the sixty (60) day period as described in paragraph 16.8 above.  This letter should be counter-signed by 
the receiving party and the letter should become an amendment to this contract.  [Appendix II to § 200] 

  
16.9 Either party may terminate the contract without cause.  The party terminating the contract without  

cause shall give no less than sixty (60) days written notice to the other party of its intention to terminate 
the contract without cause. 

  
16.10 The right of termination referred to in this contract is not intended to be exclusive, and is in addition to  

any other rights available to either party at law or in equity.  If the FSMC breaches a material provision 
of the contract and fails to cure such breach within sixty (60) days after receiving written notice of such 
breach the SFA may elect to pursue any available legal, contractual or administrative remedy or the 
following sanctions:  (i) for a first violation, a written reprimand; (ii) for a second violation, a $250 
penalty; and (iii) for a third violation, a $500 penalty.  For the purposes of the foregoing, a single 
violation means an event of the same or similar kind, without regard for the duration or number of 
personnel, equipment, students or meals involved.  [Appendix II to § 200 (A)]   

 
16.11 The FSMC shall ensure, upon termination or completion of contract, the SFA is provided with the 

following documents in accordance with 7 CFR 210.23(c) or the SFA’s established record retention 
timeframe, whichever is greater: production records, menus, all documents to support monthly claims, 
all documents to support the use of USDA Foods, professional development training records, CEP 
data, PLE Tool data, all documents related to free/reduced meal application process including 
certification and verification (if applicable), and access to any documents and or recipes requested for 
an administrative review.   
 

16.12 A waiver of any failure under this contract shall neither be construed as, nor constitute a waiver of, any  
subsequent failure.  This contract supersedes all prior negotiations, representations, or agreements.  
The Article and Paragraph headings are used solely for convenience and shall not be deemed to limit 
the subject of the Articles and Paragraphs or be considered in their interpretation.  The appendices 
referred to herein are made part of this contract by the respective references to them.  This contract may 
be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original.  

 
16.13 The parties cannot alter any provision in this agreement that is required by any law, rule or regulation.  

The parties cannot otherwise amend or alter this agreement, except as to minor, non-substantive 
provisions or issues that do not materially affect the scope of work or the cost of the contract.  The 
parties must mutually agree, in a written document signed by both parties and attached to this 
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contract, to amend, add, or delete an Article or Appendix.  Any amendment to this contract shall 
become effective at the time specified in the amendment once approved by the CSDE and executed by 
both parties. 

 
16.14 Notification of Termination. The CSDE shall be notified immediately of termination action and reason  

for termination. 
 

16.15 The parties agree that the terms of this contract shall be in accordance with the RFP published by the 
Norwich Free Academy Board of Education and any amendments to the RFP, and the proposal 
submitted by the FSMC which are kept on file at the SFA Business Office and through this reference, 
are incorporated into this contract.  In the event that contradictory statements are contained in the RFP, 
the FSMC proposal, and this contract, the following order of precedence shall apply:  contract, RFP, 
FSMC proposal. 

 

SECTION XVII: Special and General Conditions 

 
17.1 Confidential/Proprietary Information  

A. The FSMC and SFA shall designate any information they consider confidential or proprietary, 
including recipes, surveys and studies, management guidelines, operating manuals, and similar 
documents which it regularly uses in the operation of their business or which they develop 
independently during the course of this contract.  Information so designated and identified 
shall be treated as confidential by the FSMC and SFA, and the FSMC and SFA shall exercise the 
same level of care in maintaining the confidences of the other party as they would employ in 
maintaining their own confidences.  All such materials shall remain the exclusive property of 
the party that developed them and shall be returned to that party immediately upon 
termination of this contract.  Notwithstanding, the federal awarding agency reserves a royalty-
free, nonexclusive, and irrevocable license to reproduce, publish or otherwise use, and to 
authorize others to use, for Federal Government purposes: (a) the copyright in any work 
developed under a grant, subgrant, or contract under a grant or subgrant; and (b) any rights of 
copyright to which a grantee, subgrantee or a contractor purchases ownership with grant 
support. [2 CFR § 200.315] 
 

B. The FSMCs shall identify any specific information which the FSMC is claiming should not be 
disclosed to the public, along with a citation to the applicable provision of the Connecticut 
Freedom of Information Act or other applicable statute on which the FSMC is basing its claim of 
confidentiality or non-disclosure.  Information marked as “not to be disclosed to the public” 
must meet the standards set forth in the Freedom of Information Act.  Provided that nothing 
herein shall be construed to relieve any SFA or the CSDE from its obligations under any 
applicable freedom of information laws or other legal obligations concerning document 
disclosure, including, but not limited to, civil discovery demands.  In the event a request for 
information/documentation is made pursuant to the Connecticut Freedom of Information Act 
(or other applicable statute or regulation), and the FSMC objects to the release of the requested 
information, the FSMC shall bear all reasonable costs and fees incurred in asserting such 
objection.  

 
17.2 Student Data Privacy (Public Act No. 16-189) See document within Exhibit M. In performance of this 

contract, the FSMC and SFA must complete and submit it to be in compliance with the Student Data 
Privacy Act (Public Act No. 16-189). 
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17.3 The FSMC will comply with any Special and General Conditions attached hereto and in all respects 
made a part of this RFP.  The RFP is incorporated and made a part of the contract.  In the event of a 
conflict between the terms of the contract and the RFP, the terms of the contract shall prevail. 
 

17.4 The FSMC shall adhere to all applicable laws, especially all Pure Food laws, and all related regulations 
prescribed by the Federal Government, the state of Connecticut, and the local department of health.  
The FSMC will comply with the rules and regulations as set up by the SFA and with state and/or own 
laws, etc., covering and controlling food services at the facilities. 
 

17.5 No alterations, changes or improvements shall be made to the areas granted to the FSMC without 
obtaining prior written permission of the SFA with the final decision as to the alterations, changes or 
improvements reserved solely for the SFA. 

 
17.6 Any silence, absence or omission from these specifications concerning any point shall be regarded as 

meaning that only the best commercial practices are to prevail, and that only material (food, supplies, 
etc.) and workmanship of a quality that would normally be specified by the SFA are to be used. 
 

17.7 Notice/Communication: Any notice or communication required or permitted under this contract shall 
be in writing and shall be delivered personally or sent by United States registered or certified mail, 
postage prepaid and return receipt requested, addressed to the other party as follows: 

A. Notices to the SFA:  
Richard Freeman 
Norwich Free Academy 
305 Broadway 
Norwich CT  06360 

B. Notices to the FSMC:  
Click to enter text   
Click to enter text   

  Click to enter text   
Click to enter text   

  And 
 Click to enter text 
 Click to enter text 
 Click to enter text 
 Click to enter text 
E-mail communication may also be allowable under the terms of this contract.  Other persons or places 
may also be designated, in writing, by either of the parties, during the term of this contract.  Notices 
shall be effective when received.   Sent notices will be considered received forty-eight (48) hours after 
they are deposited in the United States mail. 
 
 
 
SO AGREED:  
                      

 
 

            

Signature of Food Service Management Company’s Authorized 
Representative 

Title Date 

      
 

  

Printed Name of Food Service Management Company’s   
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Authorized Representative 

 
             

 
 

Director of Finance & HR        

Signature of School Food Authority’s Authorized 
Representative 

Title Date 

Richard Freeman 
 

  

Printed Name of School Food Authority’s Authorized 
Representative 
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Schedule A 
Cost Responsibility Survey 

 
 
 

FOOD 
 

FSMC SFA 

Food Purchasing   
Processing of Invoices   

Payment of Invoices   

USDA Administrative Charges   

USDA Processing Charges   

USDA Delivery Charges   

 
 

  

LABOR 
 

FSMC 
EMPLOYEES 

 

Payment of Hourly Regular Full-Time Wages   

Payroll Taxes of Hourly Employees   

Fringe Benefits and Insurance of Hourly Employees   

Preparation of Hourly Employees’ Payroll   

Processing of Hourly Employees’ Payroll   

Workers’ Compensation for Hourly Employees   

 
 

  

ADDITIONAL ITEMS 
 

  

China/Silver/Glassware – Original Purchase to Inventory 
 Level Required for Operation 

  

China/Silver/Glassware – Replacement During Operation   

Telephone – Local   

Telephone – Long Distance   

Removal of Trash and Garbage from Kitchen   
Removal of Trash and Garbage from Premises   
Replacement of Expendable Equipment (Pots, Pans, etc.)   
Replacement of Non-Expendable Equipment   
Products and Public Liability Insurance   
Cost of Repairing Equipment   
Uniforms   

Local Travel (Intra-District and Banking Reimbursement)   
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Schedule A (cont.) 

 
 

SUPPLIES 
 

FSMC SFA 

Detergent and Cleaning Supplies   

Paper Supplies   

Menu Paper and Printing   

Postage   

Taxes/Licenses   

Pest control   

Utilities   

 
 

  

CLEANING 
 

  

Ceiling, Light Fixtures and Fans   
Dishwashing   

Equipment   

Hoods   

Floors   

Rest Rooms   

Vent from Hoods to Outside   

Walls   

Kitchen/Serving Area Equipment   
Cafeteria/Serving Area Equipment   

Dining Area/Tables and Chairs   
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Schedule B 
Procurement Specifications 

 

PRODUCT MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS 
 

Dairy Products Grade A 

Meat USDA Grade Choice 

Fish U.S. Government Inspected 

Poultry USDA Grade A 

Canned Fruits & Vegetables U.S. Grade A Choice 

Fresh Fruits & Vegetables U.S. No. 1 Grade 

Frozen Fruit & Vegetables USDA Grade A 

Bread Packaged bread and buns to be 
manufacturer dated for freshness 

Milk Grade A 

Ice Cream Grade A 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

 
 

FARM TO SCHOOL GEOGRAPHIC PREFERENCE:ENTER SPECIFICATIONS (i.e. within county, # of miles, ect) 
 

SPECIFIC PRODUCTS MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 

SFA Defined Product SFA Defined Minimum Requirement 
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Schedule C 
Meal Price List  

 
SCHEDULE C 

PRICE LIST 2020-21 

 
SCHOOL 

BREAKFAST LUNCH  
MILK 

ADULTS 

REDUCED PAID REDUCED PAID BREAKFAST LUNCH MILK 

 
ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS:  

 
ENTER PRICE 

 

 
ENTER PRICE 

 
ENTER PRICE 

 
ENTER PRICE 

 
ENTER PRICE 

 
ENTER PRICE 

 
ENTER PRICE 

 
ENTER PRICE 

 
MIDDLE SCHOOLS: 

 

 
ENTER PRICE 

 
ENTER PRICE 

 
ENTER PRICE 

 
ENTER PRICE 

 
ENTER PRICE 

 
ENTER PRICE 

 
ENTER PRICE 

 
ENTER PRICE 

 
HIGH SCHOOLS: 

 

 
.30 

 
2.00 

 
.40 

 
3.50 

 
.50 

 
2.50 

 
4.25 

 
.50 
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Schedule D 
Reimbursement Rates 

 
The following are the Federal Reimbursement Rates (Reimbursable Meals) to be used in completing 
Schedule E: 

 
1. National School Lunch Program (State ID 20560 and Federal CFDA No. 10.555) 

      
               Regular Rates Severe Need Rates* 

Paid .33 .35 

Reduced 3.11 3.13 

Free 3.51 3.53 

 
*In districts participating in the National School Lunch Program with 60 percent or greater free 
and reduced participation during the second prior year. 

 
2. School Breakfast Program (State ID 20560 and Federal CFDA No. 10.555) 

 Regular Rates Severe Need Rates* 

Paid .32 .32 

Reduced 1.59 1.96 

Free 1.89 2.26 

 
*Severe Need Rates are available to schools where, in the second prior year, 40 percent or more 
of the students received lunches free or at a reduced price. 

 
3. After-School Snack Program (State ID 20560 and Federal CFDA No. 10.555) 

   Rates 

Paid .08 

Reduced .48 

Free .96 

   

4. State Reimbursement Rates (Reimbursable Meals): $.04 

All Meals (State Match Payments [Includes free, reduced-price and paid reimbursable meals]).  

5. Performance Based Cash Assistance (previously noted as Six Cents Certification): $0.07  

   This district IS Performance Based Cash Assistance (six cent certified)     

6. CT Effective USDA Foods Rate: $.37 

7. Healthy Food Certification: Districts that opt to implement healthy food certification (HFC) receive an 

additional 10 cents per lunch, based on the total number of reimbursable lunches (paid, free and reduced) 

served in the district in the prior school year. 

     This district IS NOT healthy food certified and WILL NOT  continue to be certified.  



Revision October 2017 

 

Exhibit A 

SCHOOLS/ENROLLMENT/SERVING TIMES/PROGRAMS 
 
The following represents the SFA’s current school information for reference.  Meal service is to be in accordance with the terms and conditions of the food service program at the following locations: 

Note: The schedule provided is for serving times on a normal school day.  Schedules will vary on days when the schools have a modified schedule. 

 

 

 

  

School Name Grade 
Levels 

Enroll
ment 

Attenda
nce  

Factor 

Free 
Red. 

% 

Serving Times # of 
Waves 

Currently Participates in the following meal services: 

                                           SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 

                                          SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 

                                          SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 

                                          SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 

                                          SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 

                                          SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 

                                          SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 

                                          SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 

                                          SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 

                                          SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 

                                          SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 

                                          SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 

                                          SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 

                                          SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 

                                          SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 

                                          SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 

                                          SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 

                                          SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 

Inter-agency Agreement School 
Name 

Grade 
Levels 

Enroll
ment 

Attenda
nce 

Factor 

Free 
Red. 

% 

Serving Times Waves Currently Participates in the following meal services: 

                                          SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 

                                          SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 

                                          SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 

                                          SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 

                                          SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 

                                          SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 

NEW PROPOSED  School 
Name 

Grade 
Levels 

Enroll
ment 

Attenda
nce 

Factor 

Free 
Red. 

% 

Serving Times Waves  Currently Participates in the following meal services: 

                                          SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 

                                          SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 

                                          SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 

                                          SBP  NSLP   Snack   Supper   SMP   A la Carte   Vending  CACFP 



EXHIBIT B 

NORWICH FREE ACADEMY

REIMBURSEMENTS

Nov-19 55,765.15  

Dec-19 38,785.65  

Jan-20 59,876.35  

Feb-20 62,764.18  

Mar-20 46,785.36  

Apr-20 37,563.56  

May-20 35,954.40  

Jun-20 23,197.12  

Jul-20 21,590.48  

Aug-20 15,791.36  

Sep-20 32,716.58  

Oct-20 27,728.76  

Nov-20 32,255.50  

Dec-20 -              

Reimbursements



EXHIBIT C

NORWICH FREE ACADEMY

MEAL COUNTS AND SALES

School Name Breakfast Lunch Snacks Adult Cash  Reimbursements Other Vending

NFA Main Cafeteria 71,392     191,669   18,463     964           459,393   579,043                   61,607     4,255          

Sachem Campus 5,873       7,322       4,908       28,974                     

TOTAL 77,265     198,991   23,371     608,017                   

Meal counts are an estimate based on the 2018-2019 school year.  Note that the enrollment was higher at the time.  

The 2020-2021 enrollment is 2215 and is expected to decrease by approx. 110 students.

Meal Counts Sales Information



Exhibit D 

Norwich Free Academy 

Position Roster, Hours Scheduled and Wage Scale 

 

 Position 
Hours 

Scheduled 
Wage Scale 

1 COOK 8 12.90 to 15.15 

2  CHEF HOURLY 8 20.40 to 22.65 

3 FSW 7 15.90 to 18.15 

4 FSW 7 12.00 to 14.39 

5 FSW 8 13.00 to 15.15 

6 FSW 8 12.00 to 13.00 

7 FSW 5 11.40 to 13.65 

8 FSW 8 12.00 to 14.15 

9 FSW 8 13.10 to 15.35 

10 DISHWASHER 5 12.00 to 12.15 

11 FSW 3 12.00 to 14.39 

12 ADMIN 7 23.86 to 25.00 

13 FSW 5 12.00 to 13.65 

14 FSW 7 12.00 to 13.15 

15 FSW 8 12.57 to 15.82 

16 COOK 8 15.00 to 16.00 

17 FSW 4.5 12.00 To 13.00 
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Independent Auditors’ Report 

To the Board of Trustees 
The Norwich Free Academy and Subsidiary 
Norwich, Connecticut 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of The Norwich Free 
Academy and Subsidiary, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as 
of June 30, 2020, and the related consolidated statements of activities, functional expenses 
and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America; this includes the design, implementation and maintenance of 
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based 
on our audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America.  Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on 
the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk 
assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and 
fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such 
opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion. 
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Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of The Norwich Free Academy and Subsidiary as of June 30, 2020 and 
the changes in their net assets and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  

Report on Summarized Comparative Information 

We have previously audited The Norwich Free Academy and Subsidiary’s 2019 consolidated financial 
statements, and we expressed an unmodified opinion on those consolidated financial statements in our 
report dated October 14, 2019.  In our opinion, the summarized comparative information presented 
herein as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019 is consistent, in all material respects, with the 
audited consolidated financial statements from which it has been derived. 

Report on Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole.  The information in the consolidating schedules of financial position as of June 30, 2020 
and activities for the year then ended is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a 
required part of the consolidated financial statements.  Such information is the responsibility of 
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records 
used to prepare the consolidated financial statements.  The information has been subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all 
material respects, in relation to the consolidated financial statements as a whole. 

West Hartford, Connecticut 
October 26, 2020 



THE NORWICH FREE ACADEMY AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
JUNE 30, 2020 
WITH SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION AS OF JUNE 30, 2019  

2020 2019

ASSETS 

Current Assets  
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 5,193,975       $ 1,733,070        
Assets held by bond trustee  793,096          784,713           
Accounts and grants receivable  289,661          203,355           
Other receivables 96,679            504,411           

Total current assets  6,373,411       3,225,549        

Land, Buildings and Equipment, Net 30,963,704   32,938,059     

Collections (Note 1)

Noncurrent Assets
Investments 81,369,384     82,605,776      
Interest in irrevocable trust  357,659          357,012           
Other assets 66,737            60,428             

Total noncurrent assets  81,793,780     83,023,216      

Total Assets $ 119,130,895   $ 119,186,824    

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 2,320,164       $ 2,794,644        
Current portion of note payable 2,238,519       -                       
Current portion of bonds payable, net 575,000          555,000           
Other liabilities and deposits  759,445          763,212           
Contract liabilities 407,582          326,746           

Total current liabilities  6,300,710       4,439,602        

Noncurrent Liabilities
Note payable, net 2,274,341       -                       
Bonds payable, net 10,708,153     11,264,340      
Accrued pension costs 8,543,134       5,865,374        

Total noncurrent liabilities  21,525,628     17,129,714      

Net Assets  
Without donor restrictions 42,213,491     48,490,759      
With donor restrictions 49,091,066     49,126,749      

Total net assets  91,304,557     97,617,508      

Total Liabilities and Net Assets  $ 119,130,895   $ 119,186,824    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements
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THE NORWICH FREE ACADEMY AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020  
WITH SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019  

Without Donor With Donor
Restrictions Restrictions Total 2019

Revenues
Tuition  $ 33,663,193      $ -                  $ 33,663,193   $ 32,802,263   
Interest and dividends, net 1,791,456        705,180       2,496,636     2,238,274     
Grant revenue  828,556           -                  828,556        898,662        
Contributions and investment return
  restricted to corpus 272,402           567,879       840,281        708,305        
Other revenue  602,410           -                  602,410        955,147        
Net unrealized and realized
 gains (losses) (1,042,333)       (150,933)     (1,193,266)   2,020,389     
Net assets released from restrictions  1,157,809        (1,157,809)  -                   -                   

Total revenues 37,273,493      (35,683)       37,237,810   39,623,040   

Expenses
Program services:

Educational and related 29,314,768      -                  29,314,768   28,493,302   
Supporting services:

Management and general 11,807,001      -                  11,807,001   11,451,039   
Fundraising 276,272           -                  276,272        316,853        

Total expenses 41,398,041      -                  41,398,041   40,261,194   

Other Pension Expense (2,152,720)       -                  (2,152,720)   (1,969,045)   

Change in Net Assets (6,277,268)       (35,683)       (6,312,951)   (2,607,199)   

Net Assets - Beginning of Year 48,490,759      49,126,749  97,617,508   100,224,707 

Net Assets - End of Year $ 42,213,491      $ 49,091,066  $ 91,304,557   $ 97,617,508   

2020

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements
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THE NORWICH FREE ACADEMY AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES    
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020  
WITH SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

Program Management
Services and General Fundraising Total 2019

Salaries and benefits:
Salaries and wages $ 16,444,447 $ 7,144,597     $ 153,286      $ 23,742,330 $ 23,306,614 
Health and life benefits 2,853,496   1,239,968     26,936        4,120,400    3,366,518   
Payroll taxes  1,184,912   513,979        9,734          1,708,625    1,686,716   
Pension costs 885,831      389,694        15,888        1,291,413    948,539      

Facilities:
Depreciation 1,540,991   660,425        -                  2,201,416    2,289,084   
Maintenance 735,037      324,512        15,009        1,074,558    810,166      
Utilities 598,021      256,516        350             854,887       1,016,929   
Cafeteria expenditures 805,063      -                    -                  805,063       983,253      
Insurance 186,158      79,782          -                  265,940       258,358      
Rent 62,558        29,734          4,620          96,912         94,107        

Professional:
Professional services 
  and fees 1,232,040   545,231        27,209        1,804,480    1,964,077   

Other:
Equipment 450,408      162,903        4,160          617,471       462,663      
Office 319,555      142,907        9,413          471,875       564,880      
Activities and athletics 482,483      -                    -                  482,483       537,519      
Scholarship awards 425,519      -                    -                  425,519       417,670      
Textbooks and supplies 302,779      -                    -                  302,779       250,849      
Miscellaneous  495,054      183,717        9,667          688,438       826,101      

Interest expense 310,416      133,036        -                  443,452       477,151      

Total Expenses $ 29,314,768 $ 11,807,001   $ 276,272      $ 41,398,041 $ 40,261,194 

Supporting Services
2020

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements
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THE NORWICH FREE ACADEMY AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
WITH SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019  

2020 2019

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Change in net assets  $ (6,312,951)   $ (2,607,199)   
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash  
 used in operating activities: 

Depreciation  2,201,416    2,289,084    
Interest expense attributable to bond issuance costs 18,813         18,813         
Net unrealized and realized investment (gains) losses 1,193,266    (2,020,389)   
Contributions restricted for long-term investment  (280,508)      (126,036)      
(Increase) decrease in operating assets:  

Assets held by bond trustee (8,383)         (14,578)        
Accounts and grants receivable (86,306)        (21,903)        
Other receivables 407,732       (500,524)      
Other assets (6,956)         40,986         

Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:  
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (436,480)      475,053       
Other liabilities and deposits (3,767)         (11,667)        
Contract liabilities 80,836         107,638       
Accrued pension costs 2,677,760    2,206,185    

Net cash used in operating activities (555,528)      (164,537)      

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchase of investments (2,869,073)   (12,179,488) 
Sales of investments 2,912,199    12,188,283  
Purchase of land, buildings and equipment  (227,061)      (648,105)      

Net cash used in investing activities  (183,935)      (639,310)      

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Principal payments on bond payable (555,000)      (530,000)      
Proceeds from issuance of note payable 4,512,860    -                  
Payments on capital lease obligation (38,000)        (38,000)        
Proceeds from contributions restricted for long-term investment 280,508       126,036       

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  4,200,368    (441,964)      

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 3,460,905  (1,245,811)  

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year 1,733,070  2,978,881   

Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of Year $ 5,193,975    $ 1,733,070    

Cash Paid During the Year for Interest $ 447,239 $ 468,938

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements
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THE NORWICH FREE ACADEMY AND SUBSIDIARY 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

-7- 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Organization 

The consolidated financial statements of The Norwich Free Academy and Subsidiary (the Corporation) 
include the accounts of The Norwich Free Academy (the Academy) and NFA Foundation, Inc. (the 
Foundation).  The Academy is an independent, coeducational institution incorporated in 1854 that 
provides high school education to students from the City of Norwich, Connecticut, and nine surrounding 
towns (the sending towns).  The Foundation serves to support the development activities of the 
Academy.   

Prior Year Summarized Financial Information 

The consolidated financial statements include certain prior year summarized financial information in 
total but not by net asset class.  Such information does not include sufficient detail to constitute a 
presentation in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  Accordingly, such information should be read in conjunction with the Corporation’s audited 
consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, from which the 
summarized information was derived. 

Basis of Accounting and Presentation 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of 
accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  All activity between the above entities has been eliminated in the consolidated financial 
statements.  Net assets and revenues, expenses, gains and losses are classified based on the 
existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.  Accordingly, the net assets of the Corporation and 
changes therein are classified and reported as follows: 

Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions 
Net assets without donor restrictions represent available resources other than donor-restricted 
contributions.  These resources may be expended at the discretion of the Board of Trustees.  The 
Board of Trustees has designated a portion of net assets without donor restrictions for endowment 
purposes as described in Note 10. 

Net Assets With Donor Restrictions 
Net assets with donor restrictions represent contributions that are restricted by the donor as to 
purpose or time of expenditure and accumulated investment gains and income on endowment 
investments that have not been appropriated for expenditure.  Net assets with donor restrictions also 
represent resources that have donor-imposed restrictions that require that the principal be maintained 
in perpetuity but permit the Corporation to expend the income earned thereon for specific or general 
purposes. 

Change in Accounting Principle 
 
In January 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Accounting Standards Update 
(ASU) No. 2016-01, Financial Instruments-Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and Measurement of 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, which amends certain aspects of recognition, measurement, 
presentation and disclosure of financial instruments. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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The standards eliminated the requirement to disclose the fair value of financial instruments measured 
at amortized cost for entities that are not public business entities.  As a result, the Corporation no 
longer provides such disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
certain reported amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  Actual results could differ from 
those estimates.   

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash equivalents are defined as highly liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days or less.  
The Corporation maintains deposits in financial institutions that may, at times, exceed federal 
depository insurance limits.  Management believes that the Corporation’s deposits are not subject to 
significant credit risk. 

Land, Buildings and Equipment 

Land, buildings and equipment acquisitions and improvements thereon that exceed $5,000 are 
capitalized at cost and depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.  
Depreciation of buildings and equipment is provided over the estimated useful life of the asset on a 
straight-line basis ranging from 5 to 40 years.  Repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as 
incurred.  

Revenue Recognition 

The Corporation recognizes revenue at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the 
Corporation expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to its customers using 
the following five-step process: 

1. Identify the contract(s) with the customer 
2. Identify the performance obligation(s) in the contract 
3. Determine the transaction price 
4. Allocate the transaction price to performance obligations in the contract 
5. Recognize revenue when (or as) the Corporation satisfies a performance obligation 

 
See Note 2 for details on how the above five-step process is applied to the Corporation’s contracts with 
customers.  

The Academy has contracts with all nine sending towns.  Tuition will be based on the number of 
students in attendance on October 1 of the previous year.  Tuition for special education students is 
based on the number of students enrolled on October 1 of the current year.  The Academy accepts the 
payments as payment in full, regardless of whether the number of students in attendance is greater or 
less than the number on the previous October 1.   

Contract Liabilities 

The Academy recognizes tuition and fees revenue in the period in which the related performance 
obligations are satisfied, which is the academic year or summer session.  Accordingly, prepayments 
received for the next school term are deferred and recorded as contract liabilities.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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Investment Valuation and Income Recognition 

The Corporation’s investment portfolio is comprised of a substantial pool of financial assets whose 
purpose is to help support the Corporation’s operation.  Investments are reported at fair value.  Fair 
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  See Note 3 for a discussion of fair 
value measurements. 

Purchases and sales of securities are recorded on the trade date basis.  Interest income is recorded on 
the accrual basis.  Dividends are recorded on the ex-dividend date.  Investment income includes the 
Corporation’s gains and losses on investments bought and sold as well as held during the year.  
Realized and unrealized gains and losses and other investment income are reflected in the 
accompanying consolidated statement of activities as net realized and unrealized gains on investments 
and interest and dividends, net.  These amounts are reported in the consolidated statement of activities 
as increases or decreases in net assets without donor restrictions or net assets with donor restrictions 
as appropriate based on any donor stipulations or law.   

Interest in Irrevocable Trust 

The Foundation retains a beneficial interest in a trust established by donors.  Under these 
arrangements, the Foundation receives investment income from the trusts in perpetuity but does not 
have access to the principal.  The beneficial interests are carried at the present value of the estimated 
future receipts from the trusts, which is measured by the fair value of the assets in the trusts.   

Bond Issuance Costs 

Bond issuance costs are fees and other costs incurred in obtaining financing that are amortized on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the related debt.  Bond issuance costs are presented as a direct 
deduction of the carrying amount of the debt.  Amortization of bond issuance costs is included in 
interest expense. 

Contributions, Including Government Grants and Contracts 

In accordance with ASU 2018-08, governmental grants and contracts received by a not-for-profit, 
including certain awards to fund capital expenditures, are considered to be contributions rather than 
exchange transactions since there was not commensurate value transferred between the resource 
provider and the Corporation.  Promises to give that are subject to donor-imposed conditions (i.e., a 
donor stipulation that includes a barrier that must be overcome and a right of release from obligation) 
are recognized when the conditions on which they depend are substantially met, that is, when the 
conditional promise becomes unconditional.  Unconditional contributions are recognized when 
promised or received, as applicable, and are considered to be available for unrestricted use unless 
specifically restricted by the donor.  Donated securities are recognized as contributions at their fair 
value at date of donation. 

The Corporation reports contributions of cash and other assets as donor-restricted support if they are 
received with donor stipulations that limit their use.  When a donor restriction expires, that is, when a 
stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, net assets with donor restrictions 
are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the accompanying consolidated 
statement of activities as net assets released from restrictions.  Contributions received whose 
restrictions are met in the same period are presented as net assets without donor restrictions.  
Transfers of assets from a resource provider received before the barriers are overcome are reported as 
deferred revenue on the accompanying consolidated statement of financial position. 
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There were no conditional government grants and contracts as of June 30, 2020 and 2019.  
Government grants and contracts are conditioned on incurring qualified program expenses. 

Collections  

The Corporation owns a museum with collections of paintings, casts, statuary, artifacts and various 
other items.  Collection items acquired either through purchase or donation are not capitalized.  
Purchases of collection items are recorded as decreases in net assets without donor restrictions if 
purchased with assets without donor restrictions and as decreases in net assets with donor restrictions 
if purchased with donor-restricted assets.  Contributions of collection items are not recognized in the 
consolidated statement of activities.  Proceeds from de-accessions or insurance recoveries are 
reflected on the consolidated statement of activities based on the absence or existence and nature of 
donor-imposed restrictions. 

Functional Allocation of Expenses 

The costs of providing various programs and other activities have been reported on a functional basis in 
the consolidated statement of functional expenses.  Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated 
among the programs and supporting services benefited.   

The expenses that are allocated based on time and effort are salaries and wages, health and life 
benefits, payroll taxes, pension costs, rent, maintenance, utilities, insurance, depreciation, professional 
services and fees, equipment, interest, and miscellaneous. 

Income Taxes 

The Corporation is exempt from federal and state income taxes as a public charity under  
Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and has not been classified by the Internal Revenue 
Service as a private foundation.   

Asset Retirement Obligations 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that a liability be 
recognized for an asset retirement obligation in the period in which it is incurred if a reasonable 
estimate of fair value can be made.  Certain of the Academy’s buildings contain asbestos that must be 
removed upon demolition or upon extensive renovation.  The Academy expects to and has the ability to 
continue to maintain and operate these buildings without undertaking any activities that would require 
removal of the asbestos.  As a result, the Academy is not able to estimate the date, or range of 
potential dates, of settlement of these obligations.  Accordingly, the liability associated with these 
obligations is not reasonably estimable, and the accompanying consolidated statement of financial 
position does not include a liability for asset retirement obligations.  

Novel Coronavirus Pandemic 

On January 30, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the coronavirus to be a public health 
emergency.  As a result of the spread of coronavirus, economic uncertainties have arisen which have 
resulted in significant volatility in the investment markets that may result in declines in the value of the 
investments.  On March 10, 2020, State of Connecticut Governor Ned Lamont issued a declaration of 
Public Health and Civil Preparedness Emergencies throughout the State.  In response, the Academy 
announced on March 12 that it would close campus and transition to distance learning programs for the 
remainder of the 2019-20 academic year.  The Academy welcomed its students back to campus while 
following certain safety protocols on August 31, 2020, at which time began the 2020-21 academic year 
offering both on-site and on-line options.  
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The duration of these uncertainties and the ultimate financial effects cannot be reasonably estimated at 
this time. 

Subsequent Events 

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has evaluated subsequent events 
through October 26, 2020, which represents the date the consolidated financial statements were 
available to be issued. 

NOTE 2 - REVENUES FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS 

Performance Obligations 

The Academy enters into contracts with the nine sending towns to provide instruction to students.  The 
payment terms and conditions in the sending town contracts vary based on the payment plan chosen 
and are typically paid monthly or quarterly depending on the town.  At contract inception, the Academy 
assesses the goods and services promised in its contracts with customers and identifies a performance 
obligation for each promise to transfer to the customer a good or service (or bundle of goods or 
services) that is distinct.  To identify the performance obligations, the Academy considers all of the 
goods or services promised in the contract regardless of whether they are explicitly stated or implied by 
customary business practices.  The Academy determines that tuition and fees are the distinct goods 
and services representing a single performance obligation. 

The Academy satisfies its performance obligation for tuition and fees evenly over the contract term, 
which is the academic year or summer session, as instruction is provided.  Tuition and fees can be paid 
monthly, quarterly or semi-annually by the sending towns or in two equal payments for special 
education.  All summer session tuition is required to be paid in advance before the start of the session.  
The Academy does not provide students with the right to a refund and adjusts the monthly billings if 
there are any student withdrawals.   

The Academy also enters into contracts with the State of Connecticut to provide free or reduced 
breakfast and lunch (Child Nutrition Program) to students who qualify for the program.  The Academy 
determines that revenue received for the Child Nutrition Program are the distinct goods and services 
representing a single performance obligation. 

The Academy satisfies its performance obligation for the Child Nutrition Program at a point in time as 
free or reduced breakfasts or lunches are provided.  Revenue received under the program is billed 
monthly based on the number of free or reduced meals provided to eligible students.  Revenue for the 
Child Nutrition Program of $537,233 for the year ended June 30, 2020 is included in grant revenue on 
the accompanying consolidated statement of activities.   

Transaction Price 

For all contracts, the transaction price is determined upon establishment of the contract that contains 
the final terms of the agreement, including the description and price of each service purchased, 
payment terms and discount, if applicable.  Management has determined that the Academy’s contracts 
do not contain a significant financing component as all payments are due prior to the end of the 
academic year. 
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Contract Balances 

The opening and closing balances of the Academy’s receivables and contract liabilities are as follows:  

    Contract 
  Receivables  Liabilities 

     
Opening - July 1, 2019 $ 203,355 $ 326,746 
Closing - June 30, 2020  289,661  407,582 
     
Increase  $ 86,306 $ 80,836 
     
All contract liabilities recognized as of June 30 are recognized as revenue in the following fiscal year.  
Contracts with payment in arrears are recognized as receivables. 

NOTE 3 - INVESTMENTS AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 

Generally accepted accounting principles establish a framework for measuring fair value.  That 
framework provides a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to 
measure fair value.  The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable 
inputs (Level 3 measurements).  The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below: 

Level 1 
Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in 
active markets that the Corporation has the ability to access. 

Level 2 
Inputs to the valuation methodology include: 

 Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; 
 Quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets;  
 Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability; 
 Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation 

or other means. 
 

If the asset or liability has a specified (contractual) term, the Level 2 input must be observable for 
substantially the full term of the asset or liability. 

Level 3 
Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement.  

The asset’s or liability’s fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the 
lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement.  Valuation techniques used 
need to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.  As a 
practical expedient, certain investments are measured at fair value on the basis of net asset value.  The 
fair value of these investments is not included in the fair value hierarchy. 
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Financial Instruments Measured at Fair Value 

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for financial instruments measured at 
fair value: 

Mutual Funds 
Mutual funds are valued at the quoted net asset value of shares reported in the active market in 
which the mutual funds are traded. 

Hedge Funds, Real Estate Investment Trusts and Global Market Funds 
Interests in these funds are valued at net asset value of shares or units held by the Corporation at 
year end. 

Interest in Irrevocable Trust 
Interest in irrevocable trust held by third parties includes investments with readily determined market 
values.  The Corporation cannot access assets in the trust. 

Assets Held by Bond Trustee 
Assets held by bond trustee are valued at the fair values of the underlying assets. 

There have been no changes in the methodologies used at June 30, 2020. 

The methods described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net 
realizable value or reflective of future fair values.  Furthermore, while the Corporation believes its 
valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different 
methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in 
a different fair value measurement at the reporting date. 
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The following table sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the Corporation’s assets at fair 
value as of June 30, 2020: 

  

  Investments 
Valued Using 

Practical 
Expedient  Fair Value Measurements Using 

Description  Total  (a)  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3 
           
Mutual funds:           
 Money market $ 5,272,634 $ - $ 5,272,634 $ - $ - 
 Equities:           
  Domestic  25,762,808  -  25,762,808  -  - 
  International  15,795,107  -  15,795,107  -  - 
  Blended  3,890,744  -  3,890,744  -  - 
 Fixed income:           
  Domestic  10,352,486  -  10,352,486  -  - 
  Blended  4,479,514  -  4,479,514  -  - 
Investments measured at net asset           
 value (a):           
 Hedge fund  7,928,173  7,928,173  -  -  - 
 Global markets fund  2,562,459  2,562,459  -  -  - 
 Real estate investment trust  5,325,459  5,325,459  -  -  - 
   Total investments at fair value  81,369,384  15,816,091  65,553,293  -  - 
Interest in irrevocable trust   357,659  -  -  -  357,659 
Assets held by bond trustee  793,096  -  793,096  -  - 
           
Total Assets at Fair Value  $ 82,520,139 $ 15,816,091 $ 66,346,389 $ - $ 357,659 

 
(a) Certain investments that are measured at fair value using the net asset value per share (or its 

equivalent) practical expedient have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy.  The fair 
value amounts presented in this table are intended to permit reconciliation of the fair value 
hierarchy to the amounts presented in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

There were no transfers between levels during the year ended June 30, 2020. 

The Corporation uses pricing information supplied by the funds’ investment managers to determine the 
net asset value for the real estate investment trust, hedge fund and global markets fund. 
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Additional information regarding investments that report fair value based on net asset value per share 
or unit as of June 30, 2020 is as follows: 

  
Fair 

Value  
Unfunded 

Commitments  
Redemption 
Frequency  

Redemption 
Notice 
Period  

Liquidity or Other 
Restrictions 

           

Real estate 
 investment trust:  

          

Barings  
 Core Property  
 Fund, L.P. (a) 

 
 
$ 

 
 

5,325,459 

 
 
$ 

 
 

- 

  
 

Quarterly 

  
 

30 days  

 Redemption may 
take up to 24 

months based on 
available liquidity 

Hedge fund:           
Weatherlow  
 Offshore Fund I  
 Ltd. (b) 

  
 

7,928,173 

  
 

- 

  
 

Quarterly 

  
 

65 days 

 Redemption 
occurs at the end 
of each calendar 

quarter 
Global markets 
 fund: 

          

Wellington Trust           Redemption 
 Company, N.A.           occurs on the first 
 CTF Opp.          business day of 
 Investment (c)  2,562,459  -  Monthly  30 Days  the month 

           
 $ 15,816,091        

 
The investment strategies of these investments are as follows: 

(a) To target barrier markets that provide potential for higher income growth and appreciation. 

(b) To invest in a diversified portfolio of hedge funds to generate equity-like returns with bond-like 
volatility. 

(c) To seek long-term total returns. 

The table below sets forth a summary of changes in the fair value of the Corporation’s Level 3 assets 
for the year ended June 30, 2020: 

  Interest in 
Irrevocable 

Trust 
   
Balance - June 30, 2019 $ 357,012 
Change in value of interest in irrevocable trust  647 
   
Balance - June 30, 2020 $ 357,659 

Gains and losses (realized and unrealized) included in changes in net assets for the year ended  
June 30, 2020 are reported in net unrealized and realized gains in the consolidated statement of 
activities.  The Corporation recognized net unrealized losses of $1,711,270 for the year ended June 30, 
2020 related to investments in equity securities still held at June 30, 2020. 
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NOTE 4 - LAND, BUILDINGS AND EQUIPMENT 

Land, buildings and equipment consisted of the following at June 30, 2020: 

Land $ 2,790,267 
Land improvements  7,053,745 
Buildings  57,402,266 
Equipment and furnishings  9,319,901 
Construction in progress  26,543 
  76,592,722 
Less accumulated depreciation  45,629,018 
   
Land, Buildings and Equipment, Net $ 30,963,704 

Depreciation expense amounted to $2,201,416 for the year ended June 30, 2020. 

NOTE 5 - NOTE PAYABLE - PAYCHECK PROTECTION PROGRAM 

On April 22, 2020, the Academy received a Paycheck Protection Program (PPP) loan of $4,512,860 
granted by the Small Business Administration (SBA) under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic 
Security Act (CARES Act).  A portion of this loan may be forgivable based on the amount of qualifying 
expenses incurred and levels of employee headcount and salaries maintained during a measurement 
period.  The Academy considers the PPP loan to be debt and, accordingly, will record the amount of 
forgiveness, if any, when legally released by the lender.  At the time of issuance of the consolidated 
financial statements, notice of forgiveness had not been received from the lender.  Any portion of the 
loan that must be repaid will bear interest at a rate of 1% per annum.  Principal payments required are 
$2,238,519 and $2,274,341 for the years ending June 30, 2021 and 2022, respectively. 

The forgiveness of this loan is subject to audit by the SBA for a period of six years. 

NOTE 6 - BONDS PAYABLE 

As of June 30, 2020, bonds payable consisted of CHEFA Revenue Bonds, Norwich Free Academy 
Issue, Series B, in the original amount of $14,640,000.  The Series B bonds have interest rates of 3% 
through July 1, 2017 and 4% thereafter.  The bonds are amortized over a 10-year schedule. 

Under the terms of the CHEFA bond agreement, the Corporation is required to maintain certain 
financial and other restrictive covenants, including a long-term debt coverage ratio of not less than 1.25 
to 1.0.   

Bonds payable, net at June 30, 2020 consisted of the following: 

  Principal 
   
Series B bonds $ 11,330,000 
Less unamortized bond issuance costs  46,847 
Bonds payable, net of unamortized bond issuance costs  11,283,153 
Less current portion  575,000 
   
Bonds Payable, Net  $ 10,708,153 
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Annual principal installments (due July 1) and total interest on the bonds required under the loan 
agreement are as follows: 

Year Ending June 30  
Principal 

Installments  Interest 
     
2021 $ 575,000 $ 436,138 
2022  595,000  413,138 
2023  625,000  389,338 
2024  645,000  364,338 
2025  675,000  338,538 
Thereafter  8,215,000  1,903,775 
     
Total $ 11,330,000 $ 3,845,265 

 
Interest expense related to this obligation amounted to $443,452 for the year ended June 30, 2020. 
 

NOTE 7 - RETIREMENT PLANS 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan  

Faculties of the Academy are covered by the State Teachers’ Retirement Fund.  The Academy 
maintains a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan that covers substantially all employees who 
are not eligible for the State Teachers’ Retirement Fund.  The plan’s benefit formula is based on a 
percentage of total compensation.  Contributions to the plan are made in accordance with 
recommendations by the plan’s actuary.   

The Academy records a liability on the consolidated statement of financial position for the underfunded 
portion of its postretirement plans, defined as the amount by which the projected benefit obligation 
exceeds the fair value of the plan assets.  The Academy’s funding policy is to contribute the amount 
required to meet the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 minimum funding 
requirements. 
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The following table sets forth the Academy’s noncontributory defined benefit plan’s obligations and 
funded status at June 30, 2020: 

Change in benefit obligation:   
 Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 17,418,450 
 Service cost  804,404 
 Interest cost  606,008 
 Actuarial loss  2,087,384 
 Benefits paid  (206,468) 
 Settlements  (812,861) 
  Benefit obligation at end of year  19,896,917 
   
Change in plan assets:   
 Fair value of assets at beginning of year  11,553,084 
 Actual return on plan assets  320,036 
 Employer contributions  500,000 
 Benefits paid  (206,468) 
   Settlements  (812,861) 
  Fair value of plan assets at end of year  11,353,791 
   
Funded Status at End of Year $ (8,543,134) 
 
Amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position at June 30, 2020 consist of: 

Accrued pension costs $ 8,543,134 
 
The following table details information for pension plans with an accumulated benefit obligation in 
excess of plan assets at June 30, 2020: 

Projected benefit obligation $ 19,896,917 
Accumulated benefit obligation  18,143,765 
Fair value of plan assets  11,353,791 
 
Amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of activities for the year ended June 30, 2020 
consist of: 

Net loss $ 2,578,524 
Amortization of prior service cost and net loss  (425,804) 
Total pension-related changes other than periodic pension cost  2,152,720 
Net periodic pension cost  1,025,040 
   
Total Pension-Related Changes $ 3,177,760 
 
Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations previously recognized in changes in net assets 
without donor restrictions consist of: 

Net loss $ 6,963,903 
   
Amounts Previously Recognized in Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions, Not Yet  
Recognized as Periodic Pension Costs at June 30 $ 6,963,903 
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The following assumptions were used in accounting for the pension plan at June 30, 2020: 

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine pension benefit obligations at 
June 30:   

  Discount rate  2.70% 
  Rate of compensation increase  3.00% 
   
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic pension benefit cost 
for the year ended June 30:   

  Discount rate  3.51% 
  Expected return on plan assets  7.00% 
  Rate of compensation increase  3.00% 
 
The expected rate of return on pension plan assets is determined by those assets’ historical long-term 
investment performance, current asset allocation and estimates of future long-term returns by asset 
date. 

The Academy’s overall investment strategy is to achieve investment results that will contribute to the 
proper funding of the pension plan by exceeding the rate of inflation over the long term.  The target 
allocations for plan assets are 65% in equity securities, 34% in intermediate-term investment grade 
bonds and 1% in cash equivalents.  Equity securities include a diversified mix of equity funds in the 
U.S. and non-U.S. equity markets.  Fixed income securities include fixed income mutual funds, 
collective investment trusts and intermediate-term bond funds.  

The fair values of the Academy’s pension plan assets at June 30, 2020, by asset class, are as follows: 

    Fair Value Measurements Using 
  June 30, 2020  Level 1  Level 2 

       
Mutual funds:       
  Equities $ 7,098,143 $ - $ 7,098,143 
  Fixed income  4,052,252  -  4,052,252 
Cash equivalents - money market  203,396  203,396  - 
       
Total $ 11,353,791 $ 203,396 $ 11,150,395 
 
Estimated Future Benefit Payments 

The following benefit payments are expected to be paid: 

Year Ending June 30   
   

2021 $ 364,043 
2022  508,900 
2023  547,858 
2024  630,726 
2025  671,390 
2026-2030  4,239,410 
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Connecticut State Teachers’ Retirement Board 

All certified teachers also participate in the State of Connecticut Teachers’ Retirement System under 
Section 10.183 of the General Statutes of the State of Connecticut, which is a multiple-employer Public 
Employees’ Retirement System (PERS).  A teacher is eligible to receive a normal retirement benefit if 
he or she has 1) attained age 60 and has accumulated 20 years of credited service in the public 
schools of Connecticut, or 2) attained any age and has accumulated 35 years of credited service, at 
least 25 years of service in the public schools of Connecticut. 

The Academy withholds 8.25% of all teachers’ annual salaries and transmits the funds to the State 
Teachers’ Retirement Board.  Teacher payroll subject to retirement amounted to $17,250,583 or 74% of 
the total payroll of $23,304,370. 

The retirement system for teachers is funded by the State based upon the recommendation of the 
Teachers’ Retirement Board.  Such contribution includes amortization of actuarially computed unfunded 
liability.  The Academy does not have any liability for these teacher pensions.  The State’s contribution 
on behalf of the Academy for the year ended June 30, 2020 is not yet available.  The estimated 
contribution for the year ended June 30, 2019 is $5,119,660. 

The State of Connecticut Teacher Retirement System is considered to be a part of the State of 
Connecticut financial reporting entity and is included in the State’s financial reports as a pension trust 
fund.  Those reports may be obtained by writing to the State of Connecticut, Office of the State 
Comptroller, 55 Elm Street, Hartford, Connecticut 06106. 

Defined Contribution Pension Plan 

In addition to the defined benefit plan, the Corporation also sponsors a nonparticipating defined 
contribution plan covering substantially all employees who are not eligible for the State Teachers’ 
Retirement Fund.  Defined contribution expense for the year ended June 30, 2020 was $155,651. 

NOTE 8 - LEASES 

The Corporation leases a facility with a lease term through 2021.  Equipment for use in operations is 
also leased by the Corporation and expires through 2025.  Total rent expense and common charges 
under the operating leases were $90,403 for the year ended June 30, 2020. 

At June 30, 2020, the future minimum lease payments under operating leases are presented as follows: 

2021 $ 70,944 
2022  58,644 
2023  58,644 
2024  58,644 
2025  34,209 
   
Total Minimum Lease Payments  $ 281,085 
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NOTE 9 - NET ASSETS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS 

The following is the composition of the Corporation’s net assets with donor restrictions at June 30, 
2020: 

Restricted in perpetuity:   
  Income use unrestricted $ 5,761,019 
  Income use restricted:   
    Scholarships  8,909,261 
    Museum  1,053,914 
    Art school  703,882 
    Irrevocable trust  400,392 
    Technology  251,084 
    Artist in residence  250,000 
    Education  145,120 
    Other special purposes  64,508 
      Total restricted in perpetuity  17,539,180 
Other net assets with donor restrictions:   
 Specific programs  12,170,086 
   Scholarship funds  9,541,391 
   Capital purposes  196,169 
 Accumulated gains and income available for appropriation by    
     the Board of Directors  9,547,561 
 Time restricted  96,679 
   
Total Net Assets With Donor Restrictions $ 49,091,066 
 
Net assets with donor restrictions were released from restrictions by incurring expenses satisfying the 
following purpose or time restrictions: 

Purpose restrictions:   
  Scholarships $ 451,662 
  Specific programs  570,947 
  General  114,516 
Time restriction  20,684 
   
Total Net Assets Released $ 1,157,809 

NOTE 10 - ENDOWMENT 

The Foundation’s endowment consists of approximately 260 individual funds established for a variety of 
purposes.  Its endowment includes both donor-restricted endowment funds and funds designated by 
the Executive Board to function as endowments.  As required by accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America, net assets associated with endowment funds, including funds 
designated by the Executive Board to function as endowments, are classified and reported based on 
the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. 
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Interpretation of Relevant Law 

The Board of Directors of the Foundation has interpreted the Connecticut Prudent Management of 
Institutional Funds Act (CTPMIFA) as requiring the preservation of the fair value of the original gift as of 
the gift date of the donor-restricted endowment funds, absent explicit donor stipulations to the contrary.  
As a result of this interpretation, the Foundation classifies as net assets with donor restrictions (a) the 
original value of gifts donated to the permanent endowment, (b) the original value of subsequent gifts to 
the permanent endowment, and (c) accumulations to the permanent endowment made in accordance 
with the direction of the applicable donor gift instrument at the time the accumulation is added to the 
fund.  The remaining portion of the donor-restricted endowment fund that is not classified as permanent 
endowment is classified as net assets with donor restrictions until those amounts are appropriated for 
expenditure by the Foundation in a manner consistent with the standard of prudence prescribed by 
CTPMIFA. 

In accordance with CTPMIFA, the Foundation considers the following factors in making a determination 
to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds: 

 The duration and preservation of the fund 
 The purposes of the Foundation and the donor-restricted endowment fund 
 General economic conditions 
 The possible effect of inflation and deflation 
 The expected total return from income and the appreciation of investments 
 Other resources of the Foundation 
 The investment policies of the Foundation 

Endowment Net Assets 

Endowment net asset composition by type of fund as of June 30, 2020 are as follows: 

  Without Donor  With Donor   
  Restrictions  Restrictions  Total 
       
       
Board-designated endowment funds $ 30,865,107 $ - $ 30,865,107 
       
Donor-restricted endowment funds:       
  Original donor-restricted gift amount and       
   amounts required to be maintained in        
   perpetuity by donor  -  17,539,180  17,539,180 
  Accumulated gains and income        
   available for appropriation by the        
   Board of Directors  -  9,547,561  9,547,561 
  Purpose restricted accumulated gains       
   and income available for appropriation       
   by the Board of Directors  -  13,227,902  13,227,902 
       
Total $ 30,865,107 $ 40,314,643 $ 71,179,750 
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Changes in endowment net assets for the year ended June 30, 2020 are as follows: 

  Without Donor  With Donor   
  Restrictions  Restrictions  Total 

       
Endowment net assets - June 30, 2019 $ 31,859,798 $ 40,116,916 $ 71,976,714 
       
Investment return, net  632,403  554,247  1,186,650 
       
Contributions, designations and 
 investment return restricted to 
 corpus  304,910  280,574  585,484 
       
Appropriation of endowment        
 assets for expenditure  (1,932,004)  (637,094)  (2,569,098) 
       
Endowment Net Assets - June 30, 2020 $ 30,865,107 $ 40,314,643 $ 71,179,750 
 
Funds with Deficiencies 

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment funds 
may fall below the level that the donor or CTPMIFA requires the Foundation to retain as a fund of 
perpetual duration.  At June 30, 2020, funds with an original gift value of $813,802, fair value of 
$761,703 and deficiency of $52,099 were reported in net assets with donor restrictions. 

Return Objectives and Risk Parameters 

The Foundation has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets that attempt to 
provide a predictable stream of funding to programs supported by its endowment while seeking to 
maintain the purchasing power of the endowment assets.  Endowment assets include those assets of 
donor-restricted funds that the Foundation must hold in perpetuity or for a donor-specified period(s) as 
well as board-designated funds.  Under this policy, as approved by the Executive Board, the 
endowment assets are invested in a manner that is intended to produce results that exceed the price 
and yield results of the S&P 500 index while assuming a moderate level of investment risk.  The 
Foundation expects its endowment funds, over time, to provide an average rate of return of 
approximately 7.5% annually.  Actual returns in any given year may vary from this amount. 

Strategies Employed for Achieving Objectives 

To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, the Foundation relies on a total return strategy in which 
investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and current 
yield (interest and dividends).  The Foundation targets a diversified asset allocation that places a 
greater emphasis on equity-based investments to achieve its long-term return objectives within prudent 
risk constraints. 

Spending Policy and How the Investment Objectives Relate to Spending Policy 

The Foundation has a policy of appropriating for distribution each year up to 5% of its endowment 
fund’s average aggregate fair value over the prior four years in which the distribution is planned.  In 
establishing this policy, the Foundation considered the long-term expected return on its endowment.  
Accordingly, over the long term, the Foundation expects the current spending policy to allow its 
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endowment to grow at an average of 5% annually.  This is consistent with the Foundation’s objective to 
maintain the purchasing power of the endowment assets held in perpetuity or for a specified term as 
well as to provide additional real growth through new gifts and investment return.  The Foundation has 
a policy that permits spending from underwater endowment funds depending on the degree to which 
the fund is underwater, unless otherwise precluded by donor intent or relevant laws and regulations. 

NOTE 11 - LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY OF RESOURCES 

The Corporation’s financial assets available within one year of the consolidated statement of financial 
position date for general expenditure are as follows:  

Financial assets at year end:   
  Cash and cash equivalents $ 5,193,975  
  Assets held by bond trustee  793,096 
  Investments  81,369,384 
  Accounts and grants receivable  289,661 
  Other receivables  96,679 
  Interest in irrevocable trust  357,659 

Total financial assets at year end  88,100,454 
Less amounts unavailable for general expenditures within one year, due to:   

Restricted by donors with purpose restrictions  (21,907,646) 
Restricted by donors in perpetuity  (17,138,788)  
Irrevocable trust  (400,392) 

Total amounts unavailable for general expenditure within one year  (39,446,826) 
Amounts unavailable without Board’s approval:   

Board-designated endowment  (30,865,107) 
Future expendable donor-restricted endowment  (9,547,561) 

Total amounts unavailable to management without Board’s approval  (40,412,668) 
   
Total Financial Assets Available to Management for General Expenditure Within 
One Year  $ 8,240,960 

 
Liquidity Management 

The Corporation maintains a policy of structuring its financial assets to be available as its general 
expenditures, liabilities and other obligations come due.  In addition to financial assets available to meet 
general expenditures over the next 12 months, the Corporation operates with a balanced budget and 
anticipates collecting sufficient revenue to cover general expenditures not covered by donor-restricted 
resources.  

The Foundation’s Board of Directors has designated a portion of its unrestricted resources for 
endowment and other purposes.  Those amounts are identified as board-designated in the table above.  
These funds are invested for long-term appreciation and current income but remain available and may 
be spent at the discretion of the Board. 
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THE NORWICH FREE ACADEMY AND SUBSIDIARY  

CONSOLIDATING SCHEDULE OF FINANCIAL POSITION   
JUNE 30, 2020   

NFA
The Norwich Foundation,

Free Academy Inc. Eliminations Consolidated

ASSETS  

Current Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 4,665,175        $ 528,800       $ -                   $ 5,193,975     
Assets held by bond trustee 793,096           -                  -                   793,096        
Accounts and grants receivable  289,661           -                  -                   289,661        
Other receivables                        - 96,679         -                   96,679          

Total current assets 5,747,932        625,479       -                   6,373,411     

Land, Buildings and Equipment, Net 30,963,704      -                  -                   30,963,704   

Noncurrent Assets
Investments 2,990,186        78,379,198  -                   81,369,384   
Interest in irrevocable trust -                       357,659       -                   357,659        
Other assets  66,737             -                  -                   66,737          
Due from affiliates 3,661,641        -                  (3,661,641)   -                    

Total noncurrent assets 6,718,564        78,736,857  (3,661,641)   81,793,780   

Total Assets  $ 43,430,200      $ 79,362,336  $ (3,661,641)   $ 119,130,895 

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS  

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 2,297,260        $ 22,904         $ -                   $ 2,320,164     
Current portion of note payable 2,238,519        2,238,519     
Current portion of bonds payable, net 575,000           -                  -                   575,000        
Other liabilities and deposits 759,445           -                  -                   759,445        
Contract liabilities 407,582           -                  -                   407,582        

Total current liabilities  6,277,806        22,904         -                   6,300,710     

Noncurrent Liabilities
Note payable, net 2,274,341        -                  -                   2,274,341     
Bonds payable, net 10,708,153      -                  -                   10,708,153   
Accrued pension costs 8,543,134        -                  -                   8,543,134     
Due to affiliates -                       3,661,641    (3,661,641)   -                    

Total noncurrent liabilities 21,525,628      3,661,641    (3,661,641)   21,525,628   

Net Assets
Without donor restrictions 15,626,766      26,586,725  -                   42,213,491   
With donor restrictions -                       49,091,066  -                   49,091,066   

Total net assets 15,626,766      75,677,791  -                   91,304,557   

Total Liabilities and Net Assets  $ 43,430,200      $ 79,362,336  $ (3,661,641)   $ 119,130,895 
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THE NORWICH FREE ACADEMY AND SUBSIDIARY  

CONSOLIDATING SCHEDULE OF ACTIVITIES   
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020  

The NFA
Norwich Free Foundation,

Academy Inc. Eliminations Consolidated

Change in net assets without donor restrictions:  
Revenues:  

Tuition $ 33,663,193   $ -                  $ -                   $ 33,663,193    
Interest and dividends, net 119,004        1,672,452    -                   1,791,456      
Contributions  -                    272,402       -                   272,402         
Grant revenue 828,556        -                  -                   828,556         
Other revenue  662,410        -                  (60,000)        602,410         
Net unrealized and realized losses (42,487)         (999,846)     -                   (1,042,333)     
Net assets released from restriction -                    1,157,809    -                   1,157,809      

Total revenues 35,230,676   2,102,817    (60,000)        37,273,493    

Expenses:  
Program services:

Educational and related 28,298,766   1,076,002    (18,000)        29,356,768    
Supporting services:

Management and general 11,530,729   276,272       (21,000)        11,786,001    
Fundraising -                    276,272       (21,000)        255,272         

Total expenses  39,829,495   1,628,546    (60,000)        41,398,041    

Change in net assets without donor 
  restrictions before transfers and
  distributions and other pension expense (4,598,819)    474,271       -                   (4,124,548)     

 Transfers and distributions 2,261,468     (2,261,468)  -                   -                     
  
 Other pension expense (2,152,720)    -                  -                   (2,152,720)     

Change in net assets without     
  donor restrictions (4,490,071)    (1,787,197)  -                   (6,277,268)     

Changes in net assets with donor restrictions:  
Interest and dividends, net -                    705,180       -                   705,180         
Contributions and investment return
  restricted to corpus -                    567,879 -                   567,879         
Net unrealized and realized losses -                    (150,933)     -                   (150,933)        
Net assets released from restrictions  -                    (1,157,809)  -                   (1,157,809)     

Change in net assets with 
 donor restrictions -                    (35,683)       -                   (35,683)          

Change in net assets  (4,490,071)    (1,822,880)  -                   (6,312,951)     

Net assets - beginning of year 20,116,837   77,500,671  -                   97,617,508    

Net Assets - End of Year  $ 15,626,766   $ 75,677,791  $ -                   $ 91,304,557    
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EXHIBIT F

















EXHIBIT H 

NORWICH FREE ACADEMY 

Narrative Concerning Cleaning, A la carte, Vehicles and Cash Handling 
 

 

 

 

1. Cleaning:  It is requited that the FSMC perform all normal cleaning duties as 

related to the Cost Responsibility Survey, Schedule A.  

 

2. A la carte:  High School students are encouraged to purchase full meals 

before being allowed to purchase a la carte entrees.  After a student 

purchases a full meal, they are permitted to purchase separate a la carte 

entrees as additional items.  All students go through the same lines whether 

they are purchasing a la carte items or a full meal. 

 

3. Vehicles:  FSMC must provide necessary vehicles to meet program 

objectives.  All costs and expenses are born by the food service program. 

 

4. Cash Handling:  During the breakfast or lunch periods, students/guests will 

pay with cash or checks.  At the end of the service period, each cashier 

prepares a collection amount sheet showing the beginning register amount, 

the amount collected, and any overages/shortages.  The manager keeps 

the summary sheets and printouts per register and then prepares a deposit 

slip for the bank. 

 

All summary sheets are turned into the Food Service Manager.  They check to 

ensure the amount of cash reported matches the amount on the deposit slip.  

If there are any discrepancies, the cashier sheets are reexamined for errors 

and the money recounted, if necessary. 

 

Bank deposits are made on a daily basis into the School District’s account.  

Once a month the Food Service Manager prepares a summary sheet and 

submits that to the central office Business Manager.  The summary sheet is 

then reconciled to the bank statement. 

 



 

Exhibit I: Sample School Food Authority (SFA)/Food Service Management Company (FSMC) Monitoring Form 
 

Connecticut State Department of Education  Revised September 2019  Page 1 of 9 

District Name:  
 

Site Name: 
 

FSMC Name:  
 

Current Contract Year (check one):   1        2        3        4        5 

Current Management Fee: 
 

Current Administrative Fee: 
 

 
Instructions: This form addresses all school nutrition programs operated under the SFA/FSMC contract and must be completed twice per year for each 

site. Indicate whether the site complies with each area by checking the “Yes” or “No” column. If the area is not applicable, check the “NA” column. Use 

the “Notes” column to provide information and explanations, and indicate any corrective action required. For areas requiring corrective action, indicate 

the date the area was corrected in the “Date Corrected” column. Maintain completed forms on site. These forms will be checked by the Connecticut State 

Department of Education (CSDE) during the SFA’s Procurement Review. 

 

Menus and Service Yes No NA Notes 
Date 

Corrected 

1. Has the FSMC followed the 21-day cycle menu, as described in the 
contract for the first 21 days of the contract?  
Monitored during the first year of the contract only. 

     

2. Did the SFA approve any changes to menus following the first 21 days 
of the contract? 

     

3. For each type of meal service outlined in the contract, do all meals 
comply with the required meal pattern food components?  
Check all that apply. 

     

 SBP      

 NSLP      

 Afterschool Snack Program      

 FFVP      

 CACFP At-risk Afterschool Supper Program      

4. For each type of meal service outlined in the contract, do all meals 
comply with the required meal pattern portion sizes? Check all that apply. 

     

 SBP      

 NSLP      

 Afterschool Snack Program      

 FFVP      

 CACFP At-risk Afterschool Supper Program      



 

Exhibit I: Sample SFA/ FSMC Monitoring Form, continued 
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Menus and Service, continued Yes No NA Notes 
Date 

Corrected 

Question 5 applies only to NLSP and SBP meals 

5. Do all meals served in the NSLP and SBP comply with the required 
dietary specification (nutrition standards)? 

     

 NSLP      

 SBP      

6. Have all menus been developed using the agreed upon menu planning 
systems? 

     

7. Has the SFA retained control of the quality, extent, and general nature of 
its food service? 

     

8. Has the SFA declined to make payment to the FSMC for meals that are 
spoiled or unwholesome at the time of delivery; or do not meet detailed 
specifications, or do not otherwise meet the requirements of the 
contract? 

     

9. Are production records completed for all meals/snacks claimed for 
reimbursement? Check all programs that apply. 

     

 SBP      

 NSLP      

 Afterschool Snack Program      

 FFVP      

 CACFP At-risk Afterschool Supper Program      

  



 

Exhibit I: Sample SFA/ FSMC Monitoring Form, continued 
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Menus and Service, continued Yes No NA Notes 
Date 

Corrected 

10. Are meals monitored after the last food or menu item is served/selected 
to ensure that only reimbursable meals are claimed? 

     

11. Do foods purchased meet the quality specification standards indicated in 
the contract? 

     

12. Does the SFA evaluate the FSMC’s menus for affordability, nutrition 
requirements, and appeal to the students? 

     

13. Is the FSMC following all federal and state requirements for competitive 
foods? Competitive foods are all foods and beverages sold to students on school 
premises other than meals served through the USDA school nutrition programs. 

     

 Healthy Food Certification (HFC) requirements under 
Connecticut General Statutes (C.G.S.) Section 10-215f 
(Applies only to HFC public schools) 

     

 Connecticut Nutrition Standards under C.G.S. Section 10-215e: 
(Applies only to HFC public schools) 

     

 C.G.S. Section 10-221p: Boards to make available for purchase 
nutritious and low-fat foods (Applies only to public schools) 

     

 C.G.S. Section 10-221q: Sale of beverages 
(Applies only to public schools) 

     

 Connecticut Competitive Foods Regulations (Sections 10-215b-1 
and 10-215b-23 (Applies to public schools, private schools, and residential 
child care institutions (RCCIs)) 

     

 USDA Smart Snacks nutrition standards under the USDA final 
rule (Federal Register, Vol. 81, No. 146, July 29, 2016) (Applies 
only to non-HFC public schools, private schools, and RCCIs) 

     

  

https://portal.ct.gov/SDE/Nutrition/Healthy-Food-Certification
https://www.cga.ct.gov/current/pub/chap_169.htm#sec_10-215f
https://portal.ct.gov/SDE/Nutrition/Connecticut-Nutrition-Standards
https://www.cga.ct.gov/current/pub/chap_169.htm#sec_10-215e
https://www.cga.ct.gov/current/pub/chap_170.htm#sec_10-221p
https://www.cga.ct.gov/current/pub/chap_170.htm#sec_10-221q
https://eregulations.ct.gov/eRegsPortal/Browse/RCSA/%7B609BE155-0900-C92F-863D-9F144850E986%7D
https://eregulations.ct.gov/eRegsPortal/Browse/RCSA/%7B609BE155-0900-C92F-863D-9F144850E986%7D
https://portal.ct.gov/SDE/Nutrition/Smart-Snacks-Nutrition-Standards
https://www.fns.usda.gov/school-meals/fr-072916d
https://www.fns.usda.gov/school-meals/fr-072916d
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USDA Donated Foods Yes No NA Notes 
Date 

Corrected 

1. Does the SFA receive credit for the value of USDA Donated Foods 
received during the school year?  

If “Yes,” note if credited when product was received or when product 
was used. If “No,” note why. 

     

2. Does the FSMC provide credits per the terms of the contract?      

3. Credit for the value of donated foods was received through (check all that 
apply): 

     

 Invoice reductions      

 Refunds      

 Discounts      

 Other (describe):      

4. Does the FSMC provide clear documentation of the value received and 
of the credit recognized? (This includes crediting for the value of 
donated foods contained in processed end products.) 

     

5. Does the USDA Foods’ billing statement detail the value of the USDA 
Foods received and that it was used as the value for all credits? 

     

6. Does the SFA retain title to all USDA foods and ensure that all USDA 
Donated Foods are made available to the FSMC, including processed 
foods? 

     

7. Does the SFA/FSMC use USDA donated foods to the maximum extent 
in quantities that can be used and stored without waste? 

     

8. Does the FSMC use all donated foods, or commercially purchased foods 
of the same generic identity, of U.S. origin, and of equal or better quality 
than the donated foods in the SFA’s food service? 
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USDA Donated Foods, continued Yes No NA Notes 
Date 

Corrected 

9. For cost-reimbursable contracts, does the FSMC ensure that its system 
of inventory management does not result in the SFA being charged for 
donated foods? 

     

10. Is the FSMC responsible for receiving donated foods on behalf of the 
SFA?  

     

a. If “Yes,” does the SFA verify delivery of donated food 
shipments and end products, not relying solely on the FSMC 
records? 

     

Financial Accountability Procedures Yes No NA Notes 
Date 

Corrected 

1. Do the food service daily meal count records accurately reflect the 
counts of student and adult meals by meal type and eligibility category? 

     

2. Do the food service daily income records accurately reflect the revenue 
received by each meal type (e.g., free, reduced and paid student meals, 
and adult meals) and other revenue such as a la carte sales, catering, 
rebates, and other nonprogram sales. 

     

3. Has the SFA verified the food and non-food invoices to ensure that bills 
sent reflect actual expenses? 

     

4. Has the SFA verified time reporting documents to ensure only actual 
hours worked are billed to the SFA? 

     

5. Are allowable costs paid from the non-profit school food service 
account net of all discounts, rebates, and other applicable credits 
accruing to or received by the FSMC? 

     

6. Is the FSMC transparent in their identification of all rebates, discounts, 
and applicable credits? 

     

7. Is the FSMC transparent in their identification of unallowable costs?        

8. Are all bills monitored to ensure that the FSMC has not double-billed or 
included costs that are unallowable by the terms of the contract? 

     

  



 

Exhibit I: Sample SFA/ FSMC Monitoring Form, continued 
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Sanitation and Safety Procedures Yes No NA Notes 
Date 

Corrected 

1. Are facilities and equipment adequately maintained for safety and 
sanitation? 

     

2. Do employees practice safe food-handling procedures?      

3. Are state health licenses maintained as required by the contract?      

4. Does the SFA assure that all state and local regulations are being met by 
the FSMC? 

     

Other Contractual Requirements  Yes No NA Notes 
Date 

Corrected 

1. Has the SFA established an advisory board consisting of parents, 
teachers and students (all three groups must be represented)?  
If “No,” why? 

     

2. How many advisory board meetings have taken place at each school?      

3. Has the FSMC implemented any suggestions for menu planning from 
the advisory board? 

     

4. Did SFA/FSMC submit and implement all corrective action noted 
during an SFA review, Administrative Review, or program audit this 
year? 

     

5. Does the SFA have procedures in place to monitor FSMC contract 
compliance? 

     

a. If “Yes,” is documentation maintained?      

6. Has the FSMC staffing plan been approved by the SFA?      

7. Has the SFA retained all food service responsibilities required by USDA 
regulations? 

     

 Signature authority on state agency/SFA Agreement 
     

 Free and reduced-price policy statement 
     

 Claims 
     

 Prices of meals 
     



 

Exhibit I: Sample SFA/ FSMC Monitoring Form, continued 
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Other Contractual Requirements, continued Yes No NA Notes 
Date 

Corrected 

8. Is SFA in compliance with periodic monitoring of FSMC’s food service 
operations at each site to ensure the program conforms with program 
regulations?   

     

a. Is the documentation maintained?      

9. Have all responsibilities of the SFA and FSMC been implemented as 
defined by the terms of the contract? If “No,” explain. 

     

10. Did the FSMC meet the contract guarantee?      

11. Does the non-profit school food service account reflect the surplus, 
subsidy, or breakeven? 

     

Procurement Requirements Yes No NA Notes 
Date 

Corrected 

1. Does the FSMC follow proper procurement procedures on behalf of the 
SFA? If “No,” explain. 

     

2. Does the FSMC meet the Buy American Provision of the contract and 
USDA regulations? Spot check canned, fresh, frozen food/produce 
country of origin. If “No,” explain. 

     

3. Does the FSMC/SFA have a procedure in place to address exceptions to 
the Buy American Provision? 

     

 
Additional comments/notes: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

https://www.fns.usda.gov/school-meals/compliance-enforcement-buy-american
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Additional comments/notes, continued: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
  

Signature of FSMC Representative  Title  Date 

     

Signature of SFA Representative  Title  Date 
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In accordance with Federal civil rights law and U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) 
civil rights regulations and policies, the USDA, its Agencies, offices, and employees, and 
institutions participating in or administering USDA programs are prohibited from 
discriminating based on race, color, national origin, sex, disability, age, or reprisal or 
retaliation for prior civil rights activity in any program or activity conducted or funded by 
USDA.   
 
Persons with disabilities who require alternative means of communication for program 
information (e.g. Braille, large print, audiotape, American Sign Language, etc.), should 
contact the Agency (State or local) where they applied for benefits.  Individuals who are 
deaf, hard of hearing or have speech disabilities may contact USDA through the Federal 
Relay Service at (800) 877-8339.  Additionally, program information may be made 
available in languages other than English. 
 
To file a program complaint of discrimination, complete the USDA Program 
Discrimination Complaint Form, (AD-3027) found online at: How to File a Complaint, 
and at any USDA office, or write a letter addressed to USDA and provide in the letter all 
of the information requested in the form. To request a copy of the complaint form, call 
(866) 632-9992. Submit your completed form or letter to USDA by:  
 

(1) mail: U.S. Department of Agriculture  
Office of the Assistant Secretary for Civil Rights  
1400 Independence Avenue, SW  
Washington, D.C. 20250-9410;  

(2) fax: (202) 690-7442; or  
(3) email: program.intake@usda.gov. 

 
This institution is an equal opportunity provider. 

The Connecticut State Department of Education is committed to 
a policy of equal opportunity/affirmative action for all qualified 
persons. The Connecticut Department of Education does not 
discriminate in any employment practice, education program, or 
educational activity on the basis of age, ancestry, color, criminal 
record (in state employment and licensing), gender identity or 
expression, genetic information, intellectual disability, learning 
disability, marital status, mental disability (past or present), 
national origin, physical disability (including blindness), race, 
religious creed, retaliation for previously opposed discrimination 
or coercion, sex (pregnancy or sexual harassment), sexual 
orientation, veteran status or workplace hazards to reproductive 
systems, unless there is a bona fide occupational qualification 
excluding persons in any of the aforementioned protected 
classes. 
 
Inquiries regarding the Connecticut State Department of 
Education’s nondiscrimination policies should be directed to: 
Levy Gillespie, Equal Employment Opportunity 
Director/Americans with Disabilities Coordinator (ADA), 
Connecticut State Department of Education, 450 Columbus 
Boulevard, Suite 607, Hartford, CT 06103, 860-807-2071, 
levy.gillespie@ct.gov.  

 
 

For more information, visit the Connecticut State Department of Education’s (CSDE) FSMC webpage or contact the 

school nutrition programs staff in the CSDE Bureau of Health/Nutrition, Family Services and Adult Education, 450 

Columbus Boulevard, Suite 504, Hartford, CT 06103-1841. 

This form is available at https://portal.ct.gov/-/media/SDE/Nutrition/FSMC/SFAFSMCmonitor.pdf.  

 

http://www.ocio.usda.gov/sites/default/files/docs/2012/Complain_combined_6_8_12.pdf
http://www.ocio.usda.gov/sites/default/files/docs/2012/Complain_combined_6_8_12.pdf
http://www.ascr.usda.gov/complaint_filing_cust.html
mailto:levy.gillespie@ct.gov
https://portal.ct.gov/SDE/Nutrition/Food-Service-Management-Company
https://portal.ct.gov/SDE/Nutrition/Contact-Information-for-School-Nutrition-Programs
https://portal.ct.gov/-/media/SDE/Nutrition/FSMC/SFAFSMCmonitor.pdf
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NORWICH FREE ACADEMY 

Equipment Specifications 
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EXHIBIT K 

NORWICH FREE ACADEMY 

CURRENT EQUIPMENT AMORTIZATION SCHEDULE 
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EXHIBIT L AP CUT-OFF SCHEDULE 

NORWICH FREE ACADEMY 

Accounts Payable Cut-Off Schedule 

 

 

 

Submitted invoice by the FSMC will be paid according to the following 

schedule: 

 

INVOICE MONTH DUE DATE 

SEPTEMBER 10/10/21 

OCTOBER 11/10/21 

NOVEMBER 12/12/21 

DECEMBER 01/10/21 

JANUARY 02/10/22 

FEBRUARY 03/10/22 

MARCH 04/10/22 

APRIL 05/10/22 

MAY 06/12/22 

JUNE 07/10/22 
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EXHIBIT N 

NORWICH FREE ACADEMY 

INVOICE SAMPLE 

 

June 2021 Invoice: Norwich Free Academy 
Terms Account Number Invoice Date Invoice Number 

## days Due: ##/##/#### #### ##/##/#### ##### 

Description Total 

 
Gross product cost    
    Discounts - note each as Net off Invoice (NOI), Fee for Service (FFS), Direct Discount (DD)   $##,###.## 
    Rebates (itemized)                                                                                                                                  $##,###.## 
    Credits                                                                                                                                                      $##,###.##     
Net Product Cost             
                                                                                                                                                      
Direct Labor Cost                                                                                                                                       $##,###.## 
Supervisory and Clerical Labor Costs                                                                                                    $##,###.##                                                             
Controllables/other                                                                                                                                   $##,###.## 
                                                 
Non-Controllables/other – if either fee is based on per meal charge, all calculations must be provided:                                            

 Management Fee      $####.## 

 Admin Fee                 $####.## 
 
Total Amount Due  
_______________________________________________________________________________________________ 
USDA Foods Received this Month: 
 

USDA Foods                                                                                                                             $###.## 
DOD                                                                                                                                          $###.## 
Processed                                                                                                                                  $###.## 
Produce Pilot                                                                                                                            $###.## 
 

 
$##,###.## 
 
 
 
$##,###.## 
 
 
 
 
$##,###.## 
 
$##,###.## 
$##,###.## 
 
$##,###.## 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
$##,###.## 

 
FSMC must certify it has submitted only allowable costs to be paid from the non-profit school food service account 
 
 

Name and signature of FSMC staff responsible for certifying compliance 
 
 

Sample invoice: 

 List of each discount, rebate and or credit and labeled as net off invoice, fee for service or 

direct discount 

 Management and Administrative fee as applicable – if any fee is based on a per meal 

cost, the calculation must be included on the invoice 

 FSMC must certify on document only allowable costs submitted for payment from the 

non-profit school food service account. 

 If an Operating Statement or P&L does not accompany the invoice, individual 

expenditures must be noted on the invoice. 

 If there are discounts, rebates and or credits for “other” they must also be included on the invoice 



EXHIBIT 0 
NORWICH FREE ACADEMY 

 

2021-22 SFA – FSMC Contract Renewal Amendment                                               
(Fixed Fees) 

 

This renewal amendment is between Norwich Free Academy (SFA) and the Compass Group USA Inc., by and 

through its “accepted contract” (“accepted contract” or FSMC) and constitutes Amendment No Four. 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, the parties entered into a certain Food Service Management Agreement, dated July 1, 2021                              

as amended by Addendum No. 1 dated July 1, 2021 and Amendment No. 2 dated July 1, 2022 and Amendment No. 

3 dated July 1, 2023 (collectively, the “Agreement”) whereby, the FSMC manages and operates the SFA’s USDA 

Child Nutrition food service program in Norwich, CT; and  

WHEREAS, the parties now desire to amend the aforesaid agreement;  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises herein contained and for other good and valuable 

consideration, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

1. Both parties mutually agree to extend the Agreement beginning July 1, 2021 and ending June 30, 2024, 

unless terminated by either party as hereinafter provided. (Section 16.1) 

 

2. This agreement may be further amended for up to three one year renewals with mutual agreement. 

(Section 16.1 B) 

 

3. Any and all references to the “2019-20” school year shall be amended to read “2020-21” 

 

4. Section 12.11 (C) shall be amended to read “The FSMC’s Management Fee (FSMC’s profit) for 

August/September – June is: $2,338.03 per month for ten (10) months. Fee Total: $ 23,380.34 (Per 

calculation below based on the agreed upon percentage not to exceed the March 2021 Consumer Price 

Index (CPI) – Food Away From Home, Northeast Urban 3.2%)”. 

Management Fee 

2021-22 Fee CPI% Fee Increase 2021-22 Fee Fee Per Month for 10 Months 

     

 

5. Section 12.11 (D) shall be amended to read “The FSMC’s Administrative Fee (FSMC’s profit) for 

August/September – June is: $6458.32per month for ten (10) months. Fee Total: $64,583.22 (Per calculation 

below based on the agreed upon percentage not to exceed the March 2020 Consumer Price Index (CPI) – 

Food Away From Home, Northeast Urban 3.2%)”. 

Administrative Fee 

2021-22 Fee CPI% Fee Increase 2021-22 Fee Fee Per Month for 10 Months 

     

 

The following functions are the FSMC’s responsibility and will be included in such fees: 

 Corporate supervision; 

 Financial reporting and analysis; 

 Field auditing; 

 Marketing assistance; and  

 Purchasing administration.  

   

6. Additional changes (must be reviewed for material changes to the contract) 

 



EXHIBIT 0 
NORWICH FREE ACADEMY 

 

Sections XII (12.11) (K) is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following: 

 

Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the FSMC guarantees that the return to the 

SFA from the food service program for the 2021-2022 school year will be $XX,XXX.00.  If the annual 

operating statement shows a profit less than $XX,XXX, the FSMC will reduce its Management and 

Administrative fees by the difference between the actual and the guaranteed amount, but in no event shall 

the reimbursement obligation exceed $79,000.  The Guaranteed Return is based on the following conditions 

and assumptions remaining in effect for the school year or contract year, as applicable: 

 

a) All guarantee conditions as stated in the Food Service Management Agreement, dated July 1, 2021, are 

restated and reaffirmed herein; provide, however, that the subsection c.) is deleted and replaced with 

the following:  “average daily attendance for the 2021-2022 school year shall not be less than X,XXX.” 

This renewal amendment is effective July 1, 2021, provided both parties execute this renewal by June 30, 2021.  If 

this renewal amendment is executed after June 30, 2021, the effective date will be the date this document is fully 

executed.   

 

 

 

  

Signature of Food Service Management Company’s Authorized 

Representative 

Title Date 

 

 

  

Printed Name of Food Service Management Company’s Authorized 

Representative 

  

 

 

 

 

   

Signature of School Food Authority’s Authorized Representative Title Date 

 

 

  

Printed Name of School Food Authority’s Authorized Representative   
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